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This was the year when we solidified our 
vision of Innovation Expansion and planned 
the foundation of all the work to come. Our 
ultimate goal for the future of our organization 
is a sentient, connected airport and Airport 
City that is more personalized to the needs 
of passengers. We are creating an airport 
that helps solve questions and issues before 
passengers are even aware of them. We’re 
creating a living airport.

Much of this work involves moving EIA into a 
new digital reality. To that end, we created an 
Employee Change and Transition team to help 
ready the organization for change and support 
the transformation into this new digital world. 
This year was one of building a foundation for 
the future. We created a digital strategy and 
roadmap to outline the next steps in becoming 
a truly transformative and data-driven 
organization. This includes our framework and 
strategy for storing and governing our data 
and analytics, managing enterprise applications 
and integrating systems. We’ve also rebuilt our 
presence on the web with a mobile-first website 
design. This is one of the key tools in ensuring  
a passenger-centric experience.  

This annual report profiles some of the work 
we’re doing to build the airport of the future. 
We’re confident in and proud of the strides 
we’re making to create an unparalleled airport 
experience for customers through the use of 
technology and digital strategies. We are EIA 
and we’ll move you – into the future.

When does the future arrive? The answer is: now. 
2019 was the year when we set our sights 
squarely in the future to create an airport 
and an experience that’s passenger-centred, 
technologically advanced and responsive to 
the needs of our customers. The future involves 
creating a new technological and digital reality 
for the people we serve, one that streamlines 
and heightens their experience of the airport. 
While our strategy and vision are set on 
creating a future airport now, our focus is always 
on people. We rally around our noble cause – 
“Uniting people for a world of possibilities.” 
Our reason for being is always about the people 
and region we’re so honoured to serve.

We manage the operations of two airports 
in the Edmonton Metro Region: Edmonton 
International Airport (EIA) and Villeneuve 
Airport (VA). Under the Regional Airports 
Authority Act of Alberta, we are mandated to 
grow aviation and generate economic output 
for the communities we serve. The stewardship 
of these two regional assets allows us to 
deliver on these goals. EIA and VA are planned 
collaboratively and concurrently, with VA 
focusing on the general aviation and training 
facilities and EIA focusing on commercial traffic. 
These two airports complement one another 
and allow our vision of the airport of the future 
to come to life.
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As we write this letter in the spring of 2020 to report on our past 
year, so much has changed.  Our 2019 Annual Report reflects the 
theme “airport of the future”, and we are fully committed to this 
strategy for the long term.  Even though our world has changed 
dramatically in the last several months due to COVID-19, we are 
proud to report on the strong year and accomplishments we 
achieved as a team at EIA in 2019.

Our first priority as an organization is always the safety and 
security of the travelling public, our employees and the airport 
community, and that is so prevalent now, more than ever.  
We’re all going through this pandemic together, and like many 
organizations in our community, we have taken numerous steps 
to mitigate the impact of this virus.  Approximately 65% of 
our employees are teleworking, and we have increased safety 
protocols and procedures for those essential employees who 
are required to work on site at EIA to maintain operations and 
support our travelling public and the movement of goods.

Additionally, due to the current downturn in passenger 
volumes, we have temporarily “right-sized” EIA’s terminal to 
save operating costs, and we have greatly reduced our capital 
spending throughout 2020.  These cost-cutting measures will 
help ensure Edmonton International Airport remains strong  
and ready for the eventual economic rebound.

Even in the midst of this disruptive situation, we are always open 
for business.  Our overall air cargo volumes are significantly 
higher than this time last year, partially due to an increase in the 
air shipment of necessary medical and other goods and supplies.  
Air cargo is a vital service that supports critical supply chains for 
medical, food, pharmacy and other essential supplies for both 
our region and areas beyond, including Northern Canada.  We 
also have several daily domestic flights to key Canadian cities, 
and numerous medevac flights to support emergency health 
situations in remote and northern areas.

Airports are resilient, and we will recover from this.  We are 
actively preparing our revival plan to ensure that EIA is ready 
and prepared for our return to full operations.  Working with 
our partners within the aviation industry and the business 
community, we are taking steps to come back strong and ready 
for the steady increase in passenger volumes, as soon as our 
Government deems it is safe to do so.  In the meantime, we want 
to thank all those front-line workers in our community and at the 
airport for their dedication, and the many other professions that 
are working tirelessly to keep us safe during COVID-19. 

We look forward to welcoming all of you back to EIA soon,  
and to once again bring the world to our passengers and  
our passengers to the world. 

Stay safe and stay strong!

BALANCING  
THE AIRPORT 
OF THE FUTURE 
WITH THE 
REALITIES  
OF TODAY

Naseem Bashir
Board Chair

Tom Ruth
President and CEO
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Noble Cause

Uniting people for a world of new 
possibilities

Vision
More flights to more places

Mission
Driving our region’s economic prosperity  
through aviation and commercial 
development

Goals
10 million annual enplaned and deplaned 
passengers by 2025

$3.8 billion in economic output by 2025



OUR CORE  
VALUES
Safety and security first 
We ensure that the safety and security of 
our customers, employees, facilities and 
environment is a primary concern in all  
aspects of doing business.

Own the outcome 
We are motivated by customer expectations 
in providing quality facilities and services in a 
customer-sensitive and service driven manner.

Doing the right things right 
We are accountable for all our actions including 
financial management, and act honestly and 
respectfully in our business relations, usage of 
our resources, treatment of our customers and 
each other, and in the general conduct of our 
business.

Invested in our talent
People are our most important resource; 
we work together to foster an open and 
cooperative environment that encourages 
teamwork, communication and mutual respect.

Dedicated to sustainability
We are committed to responsibly managing 
all of our assets to advance our region’s 
environmental stewardship, social well-being 
and economic prosperity.

STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVES
 - Improve Financial Sustainability

 - Enhance Passenger Experience

 - Improve Social, Environmental  
and Economic Impacts

 - Enhance Airline Productivity

 - Improve Employee Engagement, 
Performance and Well Being
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ON THE  
EDGE  
OF 
TOMORROW

AIRPO
RT CITY 08

EIA IS A FLOURISHING AIRPORT 
CITY WITH COMMERCIAL, 
CARGO, RETAIL, ENTERTAINMENT, 
E-COMMERCE AND MORE. EIA IS 
A DESTINATION IN AND OF ITSELF. 



DRONE 
TECHNOLOGY  
DROPPING IN  
ON THE FUTURE
REMOTELY PILOTED AIRCRAFT SYSTEMS 
(RPAS) 
Drones are used for a variety of special 
programs, such as scaring away birds and 
wildlife with a falcon-shaped robird drone.  
EIA has also employed this technology for  
Lidar scans of our runways to detect safety  
and maintenance issues before they arise.  
EIA was the first Canadian airport to have 
drones operate at night, to test and calibrate 
integral landing aids. We will also be the future 
home of a testing site for drone cargo delivery 
services with the goal of becoming the hub for 
this service in the coming years. 

EIA and Drone Delivery Canada (DDC) entered 
into an agreement that will make EIA a testing 
facility for on-airport drone cargo deliveries 
(subject to regulatory approvals), with the 
hope of turning EIA into a hub for drone cargo 
deliveries in western and northern Canada.  
The agreement is assisted by Air Canada 
through its long-term commercial relationship 
with EIA. Air Canada is also a sales agent for 
DDC through its cargo branch, Air Canada 
Cargo. This is expected to be the world’s first 
regularly scheduled drone delivery service 
from an airport. As customers and routes 
are identified and routes are approved with 
regulatory authorities, DDC will deploy its 
Sparrow cargo drone, which has a carrying 
capacity of 10 pounds. 

The Alberta Aerospace and Technology Centre 
(AATC) also partnered with EIA to begin 
several new ventures. Pegasus Imagery, which 
has grown from one employee to 12 in a year, 
has just launched a new drone product, the 
Hyperion, with a payload of 44 pounds and  
16-hour flight time (range of about 700km). 
Among other benefits, Hyperion will allow 
emergency response services to control water 
bombers with real-time information feed data 
instead of pictures that could be several hours 
old. The Hyperion also removes the risk of 
having to fly over the fire to do this. It has 
active detect and avoid technology on board, 
so it can fly beyond visual line of sight, which 
will be useful once regulations permit this. 
Pegasus Imagery drones can also conduct 
crop or forestry surveys and work for police or 
other enforcement agencies. In 2020, Pegasus 
Imagery will be moving from EIA to Sturgeon 
County in order to better facilitate test flying.

In addition to the great success of Aerium 
Analytics’ robird drone, the company teamed 
up with Canard Drones to perform a real-
time analysis of EIA’s Precision Approach Path 
Indicator (PAPI), a system that is designed to 
help airplanes land safety. The drone, or RPAS, 
used highly specific tools to measure and 
collect data to help calibrate the PAPI. It was 
the first time in Canada this has been done 
successfully at night in an airport or on airport 
property.
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AIRPO
RT CITY

OUR GOAL IS TO PROVIDE SERVICES 
AND AMENITIES THAT NOT ONLY 
MEET THE NEEDS AND EXPECTATIONS 
OF THE PEOPLE WE SERVE, BUT ALSO 
DRIVE ECONOMIC PROSPERITY FOR 
THE ENTIRE REGION. 



BUILDING  
THE FUTURE
COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT
Commercial development at EIA’s Airport 
City supports air service by attracting new 
passengers and services, which, in turn, 
generate revenue that is reinvested into the 
airport. Since 2013, there has been more than 
one billion dollars of private investment in new 
development at EIA. This means robust returns 
for the region in terms of increased air service, 
jobs and overall economic impact. 

Century Mile Racetrack and Casino opened 
for business on April 1, 2019, which includes 
food and entertainment facilities with slot 
machines. To manage the additional traffic, EIA 
worked with the facility and the surrounding 
municipalities to construct additional roadways 
and related infrastructure. And, after a long day 
at the races, there’s another top-drawer hotel 
at the airport to enjoy; K5 Investment Group 
opened their new, five-storey, 135-room Fairfield 
by Marriott EIA. We also welcomed new retail 
services to Airport City, including Sleep Country, 
Booster Juice, Fat Burger, Starbucks,  
and Wendy’s. 

Cargo and commercial growth in 2019 include 
the completion of Air Canada’s new $19 million, 
50,000 sq. ft. facility that improves the airline’s 
supply chain and allows it to move goods across 
their comprehensive network more efficiently. 
This investment in our region showcases our 
strong growth trends and encourages further 
on-site developments. Also in 2019, Aurora 
Cannabis opened its new 320,000 sq. ft. facility, 
Aurora Polaris, at EIA. The facility produces 
edibles and other value-added products and 
will also enhance the company’s research and 
development, global packaging, warehousing 
and shipping operations.

Chinese firm Plant Box and EIA signed an 
agreement making the airport the North 
American entry point and logistical hub for Plant 
Box, as well as home for its main manufacturing 
and distribution centre in North America. 
Plant Box specializes in LED lighting systems 
for indoor plant growth, such as hydroponics. 
Plant Box chose EIA for its investment because 
it is the most northern major airport in North 
America that operates 24/7 and can support 
direct circumpolar access to and from Asian 
markets. This agreement opens the doors 
for further investment in the Edmonton 
Metropolitan Area from Asia. 

AIRPO
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SINCE 2013, THERE 
HAS BEEN MORE 
THAN ONE BILLION 
DOLLARS OF PRIVATE 
INVESTMENT IN NEW 
DEVELOPMENT AT EIA.



CARGO

MOVING  
THE  
FUTURE  
FORWARD
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EIA’S CURRENT FUEL FACILITIES 
HAVE ALREADY BEEN TRIPLED 
IN CAPACITY TO PROVIDE 235 
MILLION LITRES PER YEAR TO 
AIRCRAFT.
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All EIA cargo facilities operate within the 
airport’s Foreign Trade Zone (FTZ), which 
reduces trade barriers and enhances access  
to key international markets. EIA is open 24/7  
with no curfews, operational or slot restrictions. 
EIA maintained its cargo volumes in 2019, 
posting a modest increase of 0.3% to 43,000 
tons moving through the airport, despite  
a world-wide air cargo decrease of 
approximately 5.0%. This speaks both  
to confidence in EIA’s cargo capabilities and  
our strategic location for the movement of 
cargo through North America and globally.

In 2019, EIA became a strategic member 
of PharmaAero, a powerful cross-industry 
collaboration for pharmaceutical product 
shippers, certified cargo communities, 
airport operators and other air cargo industry 
stakeholders. In December 2019, EIA undertook 
the final audits required for International 
Air Transport Association (IATA) Center of 
Excellence for Independent Validators (CEIV)  
certification and is on track to be the first 
Canadian airport certified.

Shell Aviation made one of its largest global 
investments at EIA, two two-million litre jet fuel 
tanks at EIA, specifically to support increasing 
air cargo activity. The location of the new tanks 
supports EIA’s Master Plan to build expanded 
refuelling services at the southern end of the 
airport. EIA’s current fuel facilities have already 
been tripled in capacity to provide 235 million 
litres per year to aircraft. The dedicated cargo 
fueling facility ensures that cargo aircraft 
have ready access to fuel, keeping flights on 
schedule and ensuring operations can continue 
to expand.

EIA opened a “Fresh Cargo Centre” cooler 
facility that will be used jointly by cargo carriers. 
With 5,000 sq. ft. of refrigerated warehouse 
space and direct airside access, the facility is 
ideally suited for the handling of perishable 
cargo such as pharmaceuticals, meat, fruit 
and produce. Products from across Canada 
move through this facility to international 
markets. In March, the centre received its 
CEIV pharma certification for temperature-
controlled products (such as pharmaceuticals 
and perishables) for temperature-controlled 
refrigerated products. 

Runway Developments’ 25,000 sq. ft. Logistics 
Centre welcomed its newest tenant, ExpAir 
Cargo, which is considered one of the most 
important companies in the cargo industry 
for their range of destinations and products 
offered. Other logistics centre tenants include 
Flying Fresh Air Freight, Plant Box Inc., Farrow 
and Livingston International.

In the air, mainstay carriers Air Canada,  
Air France-KLM, Canadian North, Cargojet, 
DHL, FedEx, Icelandair and WestJet  
performed strongly. Their cargo services  
were supplemented by Nippon Cargo Airlines, 
Korean Air Cargo, Atlas Air and Air Bridge 
Cargo operating multiple transpacific and 
transatlantic charter services, continuing the 
expanding role of EIA as an international  
cargo centre.



Providing exceptional air service is at the core 
of our business. Our vision of more flights to 
more places is the foundation of everything 
we do, and the decisions we make as an 
airport. The airport of the future is inextricably 
linked to the future our passengers envision 
for themselves. Whether a holiday, a business 
trip, a wedding or an adventure, our job is to 
facilitate passenger travel through outstanding 
air service and an exceptional airport 
experience. Our biggest partners in achieving 
these goals are the many airlines that offer air 
service to and from Edmonton. Without them, 
we could not offer the excellent service that we 
pride ourselves on. 

In 2019, EIA served 8.15 million passengers, 
down slightly from 8.25 million passengers in 
2018. It was a challenging year for the entire 
aviation industry with the grounding of the 
Boeing 737 Max aircraft, which reduced service 
across the sector. Despite this, several new 
EIA non-stop passenger flights continued or 
launched, including:

AIR SERVICE 13

FLYING 
THE  
FUTURE
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THE AIRPORT 
OF THE 
FUTURE IS 
INEXTRICABLY 
LINKED TO THE 
FUTURE OUR 
PASSENGERS 
ENVISION FOR 
THEMSELVES.

 - Air Canada’s San Francisco service continued 
to be a popular route into California, as was 
their domestic service throughout Canada

 - WestJet launched seasonal summer service 
to St. John’s, NL. WestJet continued to offer 
strong Canadian, US and sun destinations

 - Flair Airlines continued to offer strong 
Canadian service

 - Swoop offered seasonal service to London, 
ON and Orlando, Florida; Swoop also 
added non-stop flights to Mexico for winter 
2019/2020, operating to Cancun, Puerto 
Vallarta, Mazatlan and Cabo San Lucas

 - Air Transat and Sunwing both have strong sun 
programs out of EIA

 - KLM continued to serve EIA on a year-round 
basis up to four times a week

 - Icelandair continued summer service at EIA 
flying four times a week

 - Condor Airlines announced new non-stop 
service between EIA and Frankfurt, Germany 
on Mondays and Thursdays for the summer 
season starting June 2020. Condor will 
operate a 259-seat Boeing 767-300 aircraft 
for the route



THE CONVENIENCE  
OF THE FUTURE
CENTRAL SECURITY UPGRADE
The safety and security of passengers, 
employees, and everyone that comes through 
our door is our number one priority at EIA. We 
also want to ensure the travel experience is as 
pleasurable and as easy to navigate as possible. 
That’s why we made an $8.7 million investment 
in safety, security, and the travel experience 
by renovating our Central Security screening 
area. In partnership with CATSA, EIA opened 
our new Central Security Hall to create a better 
passenger experience by creating a 280% 
larger pre-screening area that’s faster, smarter 
and easier than ever before. We aren’t the only 
airport in Canada to install CATSA Plus, but 
we have the highest percentage of our total 
passengers using the upgraded system.  
Some updates of the system include:

 - Concierges at “e-gates” and inside the 
entrance to help direct passengers to the 
appropriate queues

 - Two new private search rooms

 - New directional screens within the entrance

 - Upgraded disposal stations for liquids 
aerosols and gels, which allows passengers 
to dispose of these items more quickly and 
efficiently

 - Up to four passengers can load their bins 
simultaneously, speeding up the process 
overall

INTERNATIONAL- 
TO-DOMESTIC (ITD)

INNOVATIONS IN PASSENGER FLOW
In December, we started to pilot a new 
passenger flow option for passengers arriving 
from international destinations and connecting 
to another Canadian destination. This new 
system allows passengers to remain in the 
secure area of the terminal for their connecting 
flights, without having to gather their  
baggage or go through security screening 
again. We are currently in early phases of this 
program, and in the future we hope to have 
every international flight able to take advantage 
of this convenience. 
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280%  
LARGER PRE-
SCREENING  
AREA

SECURITY



DEFINING 
TOMORROW

D
IGITAL/TECH

N
O

LO
GY

2019 was a defining year for our vision of 
Innovation Expansion and what that means 
for EIA and our customers. How do we define 
the future of the airport? Where are the places 
and processes in which technology and digital 
transformation could have the biggest impact 
on the airport experience? To help answer those 
questions, we created a Digital Foundation 
to take the next step in becoming a truly 
transformative and data driven organization. 
This included the framework, strategy, and 
roadmap for storing and governing our data and 
analytics, managing an enterprise application 
portfolio, and integrating systems. We are 
defining a future state that will give us agility 
and flexibility to innovate on our journey to 
create a sentient, connected airport and airport 
city. We do all this and keep data privacy at the 
forefront. By following international standards 
such as GDPR (General Data Protection 
Regulation) and Canadian regulations such as 
PIPEDA (Personal Information Protection and 
Electronic Documents Act), we ensure  
the highest level of security for all the data  
we handle.

Passengers have always been the focus of all 
we do as an airport. Our goal is to harness 
technology to be passenger-centric. What does 
that mean? It means passengers should expect  
a more personalized experience in the airport. 
We want to solve problems for them before they 
are even aware of them. 

To that end, we recruited a Vice President 
of Technology, Tara Mulrooney, in March and 
re-envisioned our Information Technology team 
as the Technology team. The Technology team 
worked in partnership with the Digital team to 
review our application portfolio, define our data 
strategy and develop our reference architecture. 
This foundational work will guide us as we make 
critical investments over the next several years 
to enable airport optimization, improve the 
passenger experience and increase revenue. 
We also created an Employee Change and 
Transition team to help ready the organization 
for the changes and transformation this new 
digital world will bring.  

Lastly, 2019 saw the launch of our new website 
- flyeia.com, which was built with mobile-
first accessibility in mind. The website is a 
foundational addition to the passenger-centric 
tools and functionalities we intend to add in 
the future. 
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https://www.flyeia.com/


OUR 
PURPOSE. 
OUR 
FUTURE. 

People are our strength, and we strive to 
be an airport that reflects the diversity of 
our region in all that we do. In 2019, we 
enhanced our recruitment program to be more 
intentional about attracting diversity in our 
candidate talent pool. We’ve also implemented 
measures that enable us to gain a deeper 
understanding of the candidate pipeline and 
develop opportunities for marketing to under-
represented groups. 

We continue to foster diversity and inclusion 
throughout the organization through 
development assignments, distributed 
leadership and joint decision-making. Diverse 
perspectives and experiences will make our 
team even stronger and help us deliver on our 
promise: we’ll move you.

As we transition to a more digital work 
environment and plan for the airport of the 
future, leaders are more aware of leading 
through transformation and more confident 
in communicating and learning alongside 
their employees. Our project management 
framework has been embedded with change 
management practices as an integrated 
approach to support our transforming work 
environment.

We have expanded training and development 
to reach more employees and provide them 
with increased access to technical training, 
technology training and opportunities to 
practice and apply learnings in our organization.  
We are offering classroom sessions as well as 
delivering learning opportunities in a more 
mobile, flexible way to meet employees’ 
learning needs as we strive to create a learning 
culture.

Our new Human Capital Management system 
is a key enabler of employee satisfaction, 
technology, and staff connectivity, and 
continues to be an area of focus for EIA. It’s 
a one-stop shop for employees to access 
timesheets, training, development plans, 
and other necessary materials. We are the 
first airport in Canada to implement the full 
functionality of this specific system, and the 
results to date have been very gratifying. 
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Villeneuve Airport, a significant general aviation 
airport with 79,558 aircraft movements annually, 
continued to grow in 2019, helping to drive 
the local economy. A new connecting road at 
Villeneuve was completed in 2019, allowing free 
access to the entire airport, replacing an older 
road that intersected a taxiway. 

The next phase of the Villeneuve Airport 
expansion has opened, allowing developers 
the opportunity to lease a new section of the 
airport. Further planning is underway on water 
line connection to Sturgeon County, and the 
County has been progressing a motion through 
council in early 2020 to make this a reality. 
Villeneuve Airport continues to be a growing 
asset for our general aviation stakeholders and 
community.

We finalized our five-year strategic plan for 
Villeneuve Airport, which outlines our four focus 
areas: Improve financial sustainability, grow 
general aviation traffic, grow non-aeronautical 
revenue and grow flight training opportunities. 
As well, we continue to move forward with 
the Villeneuve Landing Network, a task force 
created by Sturgeon County to leverage the 
airport for continued regional economic growth. 

THE 
FUTURE OF 
GENERAL 
AVIATION
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THE FUTURE 
OF A 
STRONG 
REGION
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WE EXIST NOT JUST TO 
SUPPORT THE REGION, 
BUT TO BE A PART OF IT.
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WE BELIEVE 
EVERYONE 
DESERVES AN 
EXCEPTIONAL 
AIRPORT 
EXPERIENCE.

We exist not just to support the region, but 
to be a part of it. To that end, EIA supports 
close to 100 causes, events and organizations 
in the Edmonton Metro Region and 
surrounding areas. Just some of the events and 
organizations we sponsored in 2019 include:

 - Autism Society of Alberta

 - STARS Air Ambulance

 - Servus Heritage Festival

 - Edmonton International Street Performers 
Festival

 - International Triathlon Union

 - Ronald McDonald House

 - Woman of Vision, Compassion House

 - Dreams Take Flight

 - Pet Therapy Society of Northern Alberta

 - Make-A-Wish Northern Alberta

As part of our commitment to ongoing 
relationship building with the region’s 
indigenous communities, EIA hosted a National 
Indigenous Peoples’ Day cultural showcase  
for the third time and featured dance, music 
and art.  

Part of creating an exceptional airport 
experience is ensuring that the ambience in 
the airport is relaxing and appealing to the 
senses. EIA’s live music program continues to 
be a crowd pleaser as is the permanent and 
rotational art program.

CO
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 CULTURE

EIA joined country music superstar Paul Brandt 
in the #NotInMyCity campaign against human 
trafficking. Human trafficking is one of the 
fastest growing crimes in Canada, with 93% 
of Canada’s trafficking victims coming from 
within the country. The #NotinMyCity campaign 
strives to educate the public about the realities 
of child sexual exploitation and trafficking while 
also uniting Canadians in the fight to protect 
some of our most vulnerable citizens. 

EIA, Autism Edmonton, Flair Airlines, Canadian 
North and the Canadian Air Transport Security 
Authority held a mock travel day for people 
with Autism Spectrum Disorder as part of 
our joint commitment to making air travel 
accessible. Autism Aviators is a new partnership 
with EIA that gives families and those with 
Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) the chance to 
experience check-in, screening and boarding 
for a flight. The mock exercise was held in a 
separate area in the airport, which helped those 
with ASD and their caregivers learn airport 
processes in a lower stress environment. 

We were the first airport in Canada to launch 
a trial program called Edge4Vets, which helps 
retiring military members or former military 
members and their family members to find 
civilian employment and aviation employers 
to find quality employees. EIA was thrilled to 
be involved with a program that supports our 
veterans in their job search. Edge4Vets is a win-
win program, because it both helps to expand 
the skilled workforce available to the aviation 
industry and provides rewarding careers to 
those who have served and protected our 
country. 

We believe everyone deserves an exceptional 
airport experience…even our canine pals! 
That’s why EIA now has a pet relief room inside 
the terminal in the Domestic/International 
Departures Lounge located between Gate 
52 and Gate 54. The room features artificial 
turf, a hose for cleaning and pet waste bag 
dispensers. As one patron so eloquently stated 
about the new amenity, “Woof!”



EXCELLENCE 
TO 
CELEBRATE 
TODAY AND 
TOMORROW

We are so fortunate to have an amazing team  
of employees who go the extra mile to ensure 
EIA is one of the top airports in the country.  
Our efforts to create a strong, safe and secure 
airport that provides passengers with an 
exceptional experience tend to draw attention 
during awards season.

EIA’s Maintenance team was presented with the 
Plant Engineering and Maintenance Association 
of Canada (PEMAC) Maintenance Team of the 
Year award in recognition of their proactive 
maintenance program. This national award is 
given in recognition of efforts to reduce delays 
for passengers, help airlines operate on time 
and have an airport that runs smoothly for 
everyone. EIA’s maintenance team received the 
award in recognition of our efforts to transition 
to a proactive maintenance program designed 
to find issues and resolve them before they 
happen. 

The Operations team was awarded the 
internationally recognized Balchen-Post award 
for excellence in snow and ice removal for 
the second time, making EIA one of only two 
Canadian airports to win this award twice. The 
award was presented to EIA’s airside operations 
team for their dedicated efforts to maintain the 
airport in a safe and operational status during 
the 2018-19 winter season. EIA first won this 
coveted award in 2012. 

At the 2019 Airports Council International-
North America (ACI-NA) Excellence in Airport 
Marketing, Communications, and Customer 
Service Awards, EIA received first place for print 
communications, first place for radio advertising 
and second place for websites. These awards 
recognize the quality of work, abundance of 
talent, and creativity within the marketing, 
communications and customer service fields  
of the airport industry.

At the ACI-NA Concessions Awards, EIA 
received first place for best retail program 
and second place for best food and beverage 
program, recognizing the incredible work  
done by our partners in the terminal serving  
our passengers. 

EIA’s Director of Concessions, Parking and 
Ground Transportation, was presented with 
the Canadian Parking Association (CPA) Ed 
Keate Award. jetSet parking was recognized by 
the CPA for a marketing and communications 
campaign. 

And once again, EIA was recognized as one  
of Alberta’s Top 70 employers.2019 AW

ARD
S 2020



Sustainability is foundational for everything 
that we do at EIA, and it will continue to be 
important for our region’s future. From asset 
management to risk assessments, energy 
management programs and community 
involvement, sustainability is simply part of the 
way we operate. We make decisions that are 
conscious of our community’s interests, respond 
to airline priorities and consider our employees’ 
and passengers’ needs. 

We take a triple-bottom-line approach to 
sustainability, focusing equally on financial, 
environmental and social sustainability.

Our financial planning and reporting are shared 
in detail in the back end of this report. We 
continue to take measures to coordinate our 
spending to reflect the needs of the business, 
reduce waste and focus on preventative 
maintenance that protects our core assets. 

On page 19 of this report, our social 
contributions from 2019 are celebrated.  
Our commitment to the growth and prosperity 
of our region is so central to our work that 
we have now added economic growth to our 
corporate guiding principles and our corporate 
scorecard. Our employees’ well-being and 
success are also central to the way we work  
and the core values of Edmonton Airports. 

OUR 
SUSTAINABLE 
FUTURE 
AIRPORT
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In this section, we want to highlight our 
environmental sustainability developments 
from 2019. This year was an expansion of our 
commitments to being responsible stewards of 
our planet. Some of these activities include:

 - Increased collection of glycol from our de-
icing pads, which is then sent for recycling. 
During the 2018-2019 winter season we 
recovered 34% of total litres of glycol applied  

 - Treated 357,252,000 liters of water in our 
stormwater treatment system before releasing 
the clean water into the nearby Whitemud 
Creek

 - Increased signage in our terminal on all of our 
waste separation bins to improve recycling 
practices

 - Reduced  our carbon emissions from electricity 
by 653 tonnes, largely due to the LED 
replacement program and a targeted effort 
to optimize operations at our Central Utilities 
Plant

 - Recertified at Airport Carbon Accreditation 
Level 1 – an Airport Council International 
program 

 - Invested in co-generation to prepare for  
a future with more sustainable forms of 
energy generation, and energy independence 
from the provincial grid. When the facility  
is in place it has the opportunity to reduce  
our annual carbon emissions by almost  
25%

 - Educated over 90 employees on our 
emissions and energy management program. 
This represents almost one-third of our 
employees 

 - Partnered with True North Apiaries and leased 
them space to support their bee populations

 - Reduced printing by 19% between  
Q1 and Q4 after an internal campaign

To ensure that sustainability is ingrained into 
our long-term, our 2045 Master Plan will have 
sustainability included in its principles. As 
an example, our infrastructure planning will 
consider mitigation against potential climate 
change impacts, and we will also plan for new 
forms of on-site sustainable energy generation.
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TO ENSURE THAT 
SUSTAINABILITY 
IS INGRAINED 
INTO OUR 
LONG-TERM, 
OUR 2045 
MASTER PLAN 
WILL HAVE 
SUSTAINABILITY 
INCLUDED IN  
ITS PRINCIPLES.



As EIA writes its future, we do so with the 
region and the people we serve foremost in 
our planning and decision-making. The airport 
of the future is here and will continue to evolve 
with technology and digital advancements. 
What will never change is our heart. EIA’s heart 
is always with people and making their airport 
experience second to none. Our heart is with 
our region who we’re so fortunate to serve. 
Being an economic engine to help drive the 
region’s success is why we’re here. Our heart 
is also with our team and airport community 
partners who make all of this – and a brighter 
future – possible. 
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LEADING US 
FORWARD
BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board of Directors of Edmonton Airports consists of 
a maximum of fifteen (15) directors. Six (6) Directors are 
appointed by the City of Edmonton, two (2) Directors are 
appointed by the Government of Canada, and one (1) Director 
each is appointed by Leduc County, the City of Leduc, Parkland 
County, Strathcona County and Sturgeon County. The Board 
has two (2) at-large appointments that are used to fill any 
gaps in skills, experience or background, one (1) of which 
was filled in order to retain a required skill set on the Board.  
Currently, the desired skills, experience and background are 
represented on the Board.

BOARD GOVERNANCE
The Board is responsible for the stewardship, strategic 
direction and oversight of the business and affairs of 
Edmonton Airports. In carrying out these responsibilities, 
the Board endeavours to maintain and seek continuous 
improvement in high standards of Board governance.   

Some of the key governance functions of the Board include 
adopting and monitoring compliance with an ethics code, 
reviewing and approving Edmonton Airports’ strategic plan, 
annual business plan and report on sustainability, Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”) succession planning, and satisfying 
itself that management has identified the principal risks 
of the business and implemented appropriate systems to 
manage those risks.    

As a result of the Government of Canada’s process, 
implemented in 2016, for all Federal board appointment 
and re-appointment opportunities, one (1) Government of 
Canada board appointment was subject to the process as a 
result of Bob Petryk’s retirement at the end of 2018.  As such, 
commencing January 1, 2019, the position was not filled and 
remained vacant until the Government of Canada confirmed 
the appointment of Dave Mowat to the Board effective May 
9, 2019.

Following best practices in good governance, the Board 
recognized that in conjunction with identifying the skills 
and experience necessary to effectively oversee the Board’s 
mandate, the benefits that diversity and inclusion can bring 
to board membership is substantial.  Effective June 14, 
2019, the Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy with a 
stated goal of achieving 50% representation in membership 
from any of the four designated groups defined in the 
Employment Equity Act (women, Aboriginal peoples, persons 
with disabilities and members of visible minorities) by 
year-end 2022. Under the Board Diversity Policy, the Board is 
committed to:

•  Promoting diversity and inclusion in the pursuit of 
recruiting qualified Board candidates;

•  Establishing measurable objectives for achieving Board 
diversity and inclusion; and

•  Keeping its stakeholders informed of the Board’s progress 
towards implementing and achieving Board diversity and 
inclusion.
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Steven McClelland (Director At Large) was elected to the Board effective January 1, 2019*

Darrell Jones (City of Edmonton) was re-appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2019

Murray Hales (City of Leduc) was re-appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2019

Jay Ramotar (Strathcona County) was re-appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2019 

Dave Mowat (Federal Government) was appointed to the Board effective May 9, 2019

Suromitra Sanatani (City of Edmonton) retired from the Board effective December 31, 2019, 
after serving one full term on the Board

Carman McNary (City of Edmonton) was re-appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2020

Joan Hertz (City of Edmonton) was re-appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2020

Mona Hale (City of Edmonton) was appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2020

*  Appointed to the Board as a Director At Large to sustain the required air transportation skill set on the Board  
as a result of Bob Petryk’s (Federal Government) retirement effective December 31, 2018 

BOARD CHANGES 
IN 2019
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1.1 GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES
The Board will perform its overall stewardship responsibilities as a governance board rather than a 
management board and will have regard to:

(a) Edmonton Airports’ guiding principles of vision, mission and core values;

(b) accountability to stakeholders and the community through appropriate transparent processes, disclosure 
practices and effective communication, including feedback mechanisms;

(c) national and international airport best practices; and

(d) Corporate Governance Guidelines as recommended by the Canadian Securities Administrators, Canadian 
Coalition for Good Governance and Institute of Corporate Directors.

1.2 BOARD STEWARDSHIP
The Board is responsible for the stewardship, strategic direction and oversight of the business and affairs of 
Edmonton Airports, including:

(a) satisfying itself that executive management of Edmonton Airports practice and create a culture throughout 
the organization that includes the core values approved by the Board and articulated in the strategic plan;

(b) adopting an ethics code and monitoring compliance with the Board approved Ethics Code, and satisfying 
itself that executive management of Edmonton Airports practice and create an ethical corporate culture;

(c) following a strategic planning process which takes into account among other things, the opportunities 
and risks, financial overview and sustainability of the business, through the adoption and monitoring of 
the strategic plan and annual business plan;

(d) satisfying itself that executive management has identified the principal risks of the business and 
implemented appropriate systems to manage these risks;

(e) satisfying itself that executive management has contingency/emergency replacement plans in place 
for executive management and essential operational positions and succession plans in place for 
management;

(f) satisfying itself that executive management has adopted a communication policy for the stakeholders and 
community, which policy shall ensure effective measures for receiving feedback from the stakeholders 
and the community; and

(g) satisfying itself that executive management is monitoring internal controls and management information 
systems.

BOARD 
MANDATE
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1.3 BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES
Only the Board will:

(a) appoint or remove at-large directors;

(b) appoint or remove officers;

(c) appoint or remove the auditor;

(d) approve the responsibilities and compensation of the Board, Board Chair and Board Committees;

(e) review environmental, safety and security programs established by management, including standards, 
insurance coverage, and regulatory compliance;

(f) authorize the issuing of securities;

(g) authorize the raising of money by Edmonton Airports;

(h) approve the giving of financial assistance, directly or indirectly, by means of a loan, guarantee or otherwise;

(i) approve annual audited financial statements;

(j) approve corporate goals and objectives and assess corporate performance;

(k) select, evaluate and establish compensation for the President and CEO; 

(l) plan President and CEO succession;

(m) approve Special Resolution matters, including;

(i) amendment of Articles,

(ii) sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the assets of Edmonton Airports,

(iii) the appointment of a Director as a director or officer of an Affiliate,

(iv) the appointment of a Subsidiary director as a director of officer of an Affiliate,

(v) requests of the Board to the reviewer appointed under section 29 of the Regional Airports 
Authorities Act,

(vi) amendment, replacement or repeal of Bylaws,

(vii) entering into an agreement to manage and operate an airport not previously managed  
and operated by Edmonton Airports,

(viii) participation with Affiliates, and

(ix) any material change to any Airport Master Plan.
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1.4 BOARD AUTHORIZATIONS
The Board authorizes:

(a) the Audit Committee to approve quarterly unaudited financial statements and the annual internal and 
external audit plans;

(b) the President and CEO to manage all aspects of Edmonton Airports, consistent with all Board approved 
plans which authority includes the right of the President and CEO to delegate authority to other 
employees;

(c) the Board Chair to appoint ad hoc Committees to act on matters between Board meetings; and 

(d) the Governance and Human Resources Committee to make determinations respecting disclosures made 
pursuant to the Conflict of Interest Rules that the disclosed interest would not materially or detrimentally 
conflict with the interests of Edmonton Airports or give rise to an appearance of a conflict of interest, or 
give direction respecting actions or processes to manage the disclosed interest.

1.5 BOARD EFFECTIVENESS
The Board, with support from Board Committees as required, will:

(a) meet at least four times per year;

(b) review appropriate and timely management reports;

(c) appoint an Audit Committee and Governance and Human Resources Committee with Board approved 
mandates;

(d) appoint a Special Committee with a Board approved mandate for a capital project or series of capital 
projects that could materially affect the credit or reputation of Edmonton Airports, as determined by the 
Board;

(e) conduct regular assessments of the Board, Board Committees, Board Chair, Board Committee Chairs and 
individual directors;

(f) annually review the Board Mandate and Workplan, Board Committee Mandates and Workplans, Terms 
of Reference for a Director, Director’s Confirmation, Acknowledgement and Declaration, and position 
descriptions for the Board Chair, Board Committee Chairs, President and CEO, Corporate Secretary and 
Board Secretary to ensure clear delineation of responsibilities and expectations;

(g) establish a comprehensive director development program for directors consisting of director selection, 
orientation and continuing education;

(h) review size and makeup of the Board and participate in filling Board vacancies;

(i) directly engage advisors as required;

(j) meet “in camera” with the President and CEO at each meeting and as the Board at the beginning and end 
of each meeting to ensure independence from management; and

(k) require directors to annually sign a Directors’ Confirmation, Acknowledgement and Declaration.
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The following is Edmonton Airports’ disclosure of its Corporate Governance Practices.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

INDEPENDENCE OF DIRECTORS All Edmonton Airports Directors are independent.

INDEPENDENCE OF BOARD CHAIR The Board Chair is an independent director. The Board Chair’s role and 
responsibilities are described in the Board Chair’s Position Description.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF EACH DIRECTOR FOR 2019

ATTENDANCE – BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS 2019

Board
Audit 
Committee****

Governance & Human 
Resources Committee

Naseem Bashir 4/4 3/4** 3/3
Christopher Burrows 2/4 4/4

Mary Cameron 4/4 4/4 1/1*

Murray Hales 4/4 4/4
Joan Hertz 4/4 3/3
Tim Hofstra 4/4 1/1* 3/3
Doug Horner 4/4 2/2* 3/3
Darrell Jones 4/4 4/4
Dale Klein 4/4 4/4

Steven McClelland 4/4 1/1* 1/1*

Carman McNary 4/4 4/4

Dave Mowat*** 2/3 1/1*

Jay Ramotar 4/4 1/1* 3/3
Suromitra Sanatani 3/4 4/4

 *Non-member – attended at request of Committee

 **Non-member – attended as Board Chair

 ***Appointed to the Board effective May 9, 2019 (following Q1 Board meeting)

 ****Q3 Audit Committee meeting conducted via written resolution (no in person meeting)

DISCLOSURE OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
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DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

IN CAMERA MEETINGS In camera sessions are held at the beginning and end of every Board 
and Board Committee meeting in accordance with the Board and Board 
Committee Mandates.

BOARD MANDATE

BOARD MANDATE The Board has a written mandate that sets out its role and responsibilities. The 
text of the Board Mandate is set out herein.

POSITION DESCRIPTIONS

POSITION DESCRIPTIONS The Board has written position descriptions for the Board Chair, the 
Governance & Human Resources Committee Chair (“Governance 
Committee”), the Audit Committee Chair, the President and CEO, the 
Corporate Secretary (Governance Officer) and the Board Secretary.

ORIENTATION AND CONTINUING EDUCATION 

NEW DIRECTOR ORIENTATION The Director Development Program sets out an orientation program for 
new directors, which is designed to provide a comprehensive introduction 
to Edmonton Airports and the Board’s governance policies and practices.  
The program includes, inter alia, orientation sessions with the Board Chair 
and the Governance Committee Chair (as requested), Corporate Secretary 
(Governance Officer), President and CEO and Executive Management, as well 
as attendance at one meeting of each Board Committee in the new director’s 
first year, and tours of the facilities operated by Edmonton Airports.

DIRECTOR CONTINUING EDUCATION The Policy for Director Development provides for funding for director 
development.  The Director Development Program sets out a program for 
Continuing Education to expand a director’s knowledge of the aviation 
industry, government policy, business risk, competition and governance.

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS 

WRITTEN CODE OF BUSINESS  
CONDUCT AND ETHICS

The Board has adopted a written Ethics Code applicable to Edmonton Airports’ 
Directors, Officers, Executive Management and Employees.  The Board 
monitors compliance of Directors by requiring Directors to annually sign the 
Director’s Confirmation, Acknowledgement and Declaration Form.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST RULES The Conflict of Interest Rules that form part of the Ethics Code requires 
completion (annually) of a Personal Information Form and disclosure of 
all interests, activities, investments, memberships and appointments that 
Directors, Officers, Executive Management and Employees have become 
involved with that may materially or detrimentally conflict with the interests 
of Edmonton Airports or any interests that may reasonably be perceived as 
giving rise to an appearance of a conflict of interest.  The Board implements 
appropriate processes to manage disclosed interests, such as requiring 
Directors who have a material interest in a transaction to recuse themselves 
from discussions and/or voting on issues concerning those transactions. 
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

NOMINATION AND APPOINTMENT 
OF DIRECTORS

The Director Selection Process, which is a component of the Director 
Development Program, provides for a strategic, disciplined and transparent 
process to bring the skill sets, competencies and diversity required on the 
Board.  

The process consists of:

1.Diversity and skills/competencies gap analysis conducted by the 
Governance Committee to identify anticipated gaps in the diversity, skill 
sets and competencies of the Board, including an assessment of whether a 
Director At Large position is needed to ensure no gap occurs;

2.Communication of selection criteria to the Appointer for the Appointer’s 
consideration and in the case of Government of Canada appointment 
opportunities the appropriate criteria for insertion on the position posting 
advertisement.  Where appropriate, the Board encourages the Appointer to 
utilize  a search firm to assist in identifying candidates;

3.Meeting of the Governance Committee Chair and Board Chair, and where 
possible other Governance Committee members and with the candidate 
to communicate the skill set and competencies required, expectations of 
time commitment, and application of Conflicts of Interest rules.  Meetings 
with the Board Chair and other Directors are arranged to get to know the 
candidate;

4.For Government of Canada appointee opportunities beginning in 2017, in 
addition to point 3 above, meeting of the Board Chair and representatives 
from Transport Canada and the Minister of Transportation as part of a 
screening committee to review the applications; and

5.Communication with the Appointer as to the suitability of candidates 
interviewed.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE The Governance Committee’s Mandate includes responsibility for reviewing 
the size and makeup of the Board and filling Board vacancies.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE 
RESPONSIBILITIES, POWERS 
AND OPERATION

The Governance Committee’s annual Workplan includes reviewing director 
skill sets and identifying gaps, reviewing size and makeup of the Board 
(including diversity), and making recommendations to Appointers for Board 
vacancies.

COMPENSATION

COMPENSATION RESPONSIBILITIES, 
POWERS AND OPERATION

The Governance Committee’s Mandate includes responsibility for reviewing 
and recommending for Board approval the CEO evaluation process and 
compensation, Edmonton Airports’ Compensation Philosophy, the Directors’ 
Compensation Philosophy and Director compensation Policy.

OTHER BOARD COMMITTEES

OTHER STANDING COMMITTEES The Board’s standing committees are the Audit Committee and Governance 
Committee. The Board has the ability to appoint special committees with 
Board approved mandates as required.

BOARD ASSESSMENTS

ASSESSMENTS OF THE BOARD, 
BOARD COMMITTEES AND 
INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS

Assessments of the Board, Board Committees, the Board Chair, Board 
Committee Chairs and individual Directors (both self and peer) are conducted 
regularly.  Assessment information may be collected and compiled through 
questionnaires or interviews or a combination of the two techniques and 
may be conducted with the assistance of external consultants.  All assessment 
results are reviewed by the Governance Committee and the Board Chair.  The 
Governance Committee is responsible for recommending and monitoring 
improvement based on assessment results.
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OUR 2019 PERFORMANCE 
To support the achievement of our five-year strategic objectives, we set annual corporate and strategic business unit 
(SBU) targets. We review our performance towards all these targets on a monthly and quarterly basis, depending 
on data availability. The Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) in this report reviews our financial 
performance. This Strategic Reporting section focuses on the 2019 performance results for our non-financial targets. 
The developments, initiatives and achievements discussed throughout the 2019 Annual Report illustrate how the 
organization worked towards achieving our 2019 targets as well as our five-year strategic objectives. 

ENHANCE PASSENGER EXPERIENCE
The unexpected grounding of the Boeing 737-Max aircraft in 2019 brought significant challenges for the aviation 
sectors. Regulatory bodies around the world continue to review the viability and reintroduction of the aircraft into 
the market. Locally, the provincial economy was softer than anticipated due to low oil prices and a sluggish energy 
sector. Despite these challenges, EIA was able to secure new routes, including the announcement of non-stop 
service to Frankfurt in 2020, and maintain total passenger volumes of over 8.1 million. EIA continued to make 
significant investments in 2019 towards improving the passenger experience at EIA to further support long-term 
passenger comfort. A significant achievement in 2019 was the completion of a new pre-board screening area for 
our domestic and international passengers. This project included more space for queuing and passenger screening 
activities as well as the new CATSA Plus technology that significantly boosts through-put and lowers waiting times for 
passengers. The total pre-board screening area increased in size by 280%, greatly increasing the queue space. 

IMPROVE SOCIAL, ENVIRONMENTAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACT
In 2019, we reduced Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions (direct emissions from owned or controlled sources and 
indirect emissions from the generation of purchased energy) at EIA to 48.1 thousand tonnes of CO2e, a reduction of 
approximately 0.6% over 2018. This is a result of the continuation of initiatives such as LED lighting replacement and 
reducing the idle time of our vehicles and equipment. In 2019 over 90 employees were educated on our emissions 
and energy management program. This represents almost one-third of our employees. This is an important part of 
our commitment to impacting individual employee involvement in energy management. An exciting step forward 
was the Board of Directors’ approval of the co-generation facility in 2019. The implementation of this facility will 
support a reduction in emissions, and utility expenses over the long run. We are committed to the communities 
we serve and encourage employees to participate in local volunteer opportunities. In 2019, 67% of our employees 
dedicated at least four hours of time towards supporting local charities and community initiatives.  

ENHANCE AIRLINE PRODUCTIVITY
Our goals around baggage delivery times were exceeded, with a time to first bag of approximately 15 minutes 
(airline standard is 20 minutes) and the average time to last bag was 27 minutes (airline standard is 30 minutes). 
We also continued to have on-time performance results that place amongst the highest performing airports with 
winter operations in North America. 85% of flights departed EIA on time last year. While global air freight volumes 
were down in 2019, our cargo strategy succeeded in growing volumes to 42,716 tonnes which was a modest 
increase of 0.3% over 2018. The continued growth in Asian charter flights continues to help prove EIA as a viable 
option for future scheduled transpacific cargo freighters.

IMPROVE EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT, PERFORMANCE AND WELL-BEING
With Safety and Security as a core value, our organization has two targets focused on employee safety. We once 
again passed the Certificate of Recognition audit recognizing the organization’s commitment to a culture and 
practice of ensuring a safe workplace. Another significant safety win was finishing the year with zero lost time due 
to incidents (LTIs). This reflects the efforts of employees and management to ensuring the highest level of safety 
standards are followed every day. Our employees are key to our success and employee engagement is a major 
focus in delivering the organization’s strategy. In 2019, we achieved engagement scores as initiatives identified in 
past surveys were implemented. As an organization, we continue to develop our corporate culture to improve the 
employee experience. 

STRATEGIC 
REPORTING
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Considering a holistic approach, we use a scorecard with financial, customer, sustainability, process and employee 
categories to organize and set performance targets to achieve the five key strategic objectives listed below. For our 
corporate scorecard, we have selected targets that focus efforts and guide resources towards the highest priority 
areas for the long-term sustainability of our business. As an organization that operates for the benefit of the local 
region, we define our long-term success by pursuing improvements in all these areas.  

IMPROVE FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY 
Our financial strategy is focused on sustaining self-funded long-term business growth with financial accountability 
measures, such as return on capital employed and top-line revenue growth. Sustainable financial management 
creates the stability needed for successful long-term planning. 

ENHANCE PASSENGER EXPERIENCE 
An exceptional passenger experience is a critical factor in differentiating EIA from other travel options and in creating 
customer affinity. We place passengers at the heart of our business model and develop products and services that 
meet their needs and exceed their expectations, while linking them to the business and leisure destinations of 
their choice. Since passengers are a core business driver for both airlines and airports, our attention to passengers 
supports our mutual success.  

IMPROVE SOCIAL, ENVIRONMENTAL AND ECONOMIC SUSTAINABILITY 
Our sustainability targets reflect our commitment to operating effectively and responsibly in the context of our 
neighbours, partners, stakeholders and environment. We must responsibly manage our resources to advance 
our region’s environmental stewardship, social well-being and economic prosperity. Our targets around driving 
economic growth, volunteering in the community and reducing carbon emissions represent key areas of focus. 
We will build skills in sustainability best practices, increase transparency in reporting and monitoring, engage 
stakeholders to ensure operations reflect their needs and develop initiatives that resonate with airlines and regional 
interests.  

ENHANCE AIRLINE PRODUCTIVITY 
This objective strategically aligns us with the interests of airlines, which are key partners and stakeholders. Targets in 
this area are aimed at making the airport operations more efficient and effective. We strive to use our airport assets 
in the most efficient manner and recognize that the airport plays a key role in ensuring airlines operate their assets 
as efficiently as possible. We aim to use our assets and analytics to facilitate preventative maintenance programs to 
coordinate our resources and protect our facility for the long-term. The airport has created performance improvement 
targets geared at improving aircraft turn around times and enhancing the speed of passenger baggage delivery.

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT, PERFORMANCE AND WELL-BEING 
We are committed to increasing employee engagement by shifting to a more cohesive work environment, including 
improving work design, clarifying accountability, developing talent, integrating the way we work and enhancing 
and modernizing the employee experience. We also seek to ensure that we operate the airport in the safest possible 
manner and have safety targets focused on reducing recordable safety incidents and promoting a culture of safety 
and preventative action. 

LONG-TERM STRATEGIC  
OBJECTIVES 2019-2023
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ADVISORIES 
The following Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results (MD&A) should be read in conjunction with 
the Financial Statements and note disclosures for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Financial Statements have 
been prepared in accordance with CPA Canada Handbook – Accounting Part III - Accounting Standards for Not-For-
Profit Organizations (ASNPO). All amounts in the following MD&A are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated. 
References to Edmonton Airports mean Edmonton Regional Airports Authority. 

NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP MEASURES
Certain measures in this MD&A do not have any standardized meaning as prescribed by generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP), and therefore, are considered non-GAAP measures. These measures are provided to 
enhance the reader’s overall understanding of our financial performance or financial condition. They are included 
to provide readers with an alternative method for assessing our operating results in a manner that is focused on the 
performance of our ongoing operations and to provide a more consistent basis for the comparison between periods. 
Therefore, they may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities. 

CORPORATE PROFILE
In 2019, Edmonton Regional Airports Authority (Edmonton Airports, “EA”) operated Edmonton International Airport 
(“EIA”) and Villeneuve Airport (“VA”).

Our responsibility, as defined in the Regional Airport Authorities Act (Alberta), is to manage these airports in a safe, 
secure and efficient manner. As well, we are also mandated to foster economic and community development by 
improving airline and transportation service and expanding the aviation industry. As a non-share, not-for-profit 
entity, the net earnings we earn are re-invested in the airports under our control so we can fulfill this mandate.

RECENT EVENTS
Certain events transpired in 2019 that impacted Edmonton Airports’ operations or financial results or may impact 
future results. 

• Century Mile Racetrack and Casino, a mile-long race track, including food and entertainment facilities with slot 
machines, held its grand opening on April 1, 2019. 

• The City of Edmonton, the City of Leduc, Leduc County and Edmonton International Airport are partners in the 
Airport Accord, an agreement to fulfill the economic development potential of EIA and surrounding lands. In 2019 
transit ridership has doubled between airport, surrounding businesses and municipalities, from 12,000 riders 
per month to more than 25,000. Changes to transit services include a new stop at Premium Outlet Collection EIA, 
a reduction in the ETS 747 Route fair by half and free shuttle services between the EIA main terminal, Premium 
Outlet Collection EIA, Century Mile Racetrack and Casino, the STARS hangar and other facilities.

• Absolute Combustion International (ACI) and Edmonton International Airport have successfully completed a 
three-year test to commercialize a faster and more efficient portable diesel aircraft heater. This heater significantly 
outperforms standard heating technologies on metrics ranging from fuel consumption and safety to extreme cold 
weather durability.

• An agreement was signed between Edmonton International Airport and Plant Box, a Chinese-based company 
that specializes in LED lighting systems designed for indoor plant growth, such as hydroponics. EIA will be the 
North American entry point and logistical hub for this company, as well as home for its main manufacturing and 
distribution centre in North America.  

• EIA and Drone Delivery Canada (DDC) have entered into an agreement and will work towards making Edmonton’s 
airport into a hub for drone cargo deliveries in western and northern Canada.

• Condor Airlines will offer a new, non-stop air service between Edmonton International Airport and Frankfurt, 
Germany, with a world of travel options for the Edmonton Metropolitan Region. Flights to Frankfurt from 
Edmonton start June 1, 2020 and will operate twice a week. Condor will operate a 259 seat Boeing 767-300 
aircraft for the route.

2019 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
For 2019, Edmonton Airports used three financial metrics to monitor the organization’s financial sustainability. 
The organization sets goals related to EBITDA margin*, return on capital employed and airline cost per enplaned 
passenger. Current year EBITDA was marginally less than prior year as passenger volumes decreased slightly 
compared to 2018. Return on capital employed remained consistent with prior year. Airline cost per enplanement 
was higher than prior year due to inflationary increases in rates and fees and the decline in passengers in 2019 
compared to 2018.

The following tables highlight Edmonton Airports’ performance on our key financial sustainability indicators in 2019: 

MEASURE DECEMBER 31, 2019 RESULT DECEMBER 31, 2018 RESULT
EBITDA Margin 47.2% 47.6%
Return on Capital Employed 12.1% 11.8%
Airline Cost per Enplanement $13.76 $13.33

*  EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure, defined as earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA margin is 
equivalent to Earnings before other income and expenses on the financial statements. EBITDA is the financial measure used by 
other airports and EA uses EBITDA to assess its financial performance against other airports.

PASSENGERS:
TOTAL PASSENGERS (THOUSANDS)
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5.5%
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Passenger volumes are the key driver of most revenue items at EIA. Airport Improvement Fee, parking, terminal 
concessions and several passenger-related aeronautical fees are directly correlated to passenger volumes. 
Total passenger volumes decreased slightly by 1.2% compared to prior year, due to a decrease in domestic and 
international passengers, offset by passenger growth in general/business aviation.

In the first quarter of 2019, EIA achieved growth in terminal traffic of 2.3%.  However, due to the grounding of the 
Boeing 737 MAX aircraft and the softening economy in the region, passenger volumes through the rest of the year 
softened, resulting in total passenger volumes remaining relatively consistent with the prior year.
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EBITDA MARGIN:
EBITDA
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EBITDA EBITDA Margin
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Total EBITDA for 2019 is $109.4 million.  The overall EBITDA margin of 47.2% is in line with prior year.

EBITDA margin, also sometimes known as the efficiency margin, indicates how much operating profit the 
organization earns for each dollar in revenue generated. Edmonton Airports considers this an important performance 
measure as it helps ensure that the organization is managing its facilities in a cost-effective manner and that 
sufficient cash flow is being generated to execute on strategic priorities.

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED:

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED
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Return on capital employed (ROCE) is a profitability ratio that measures how efficiently a company can generate 
profits from its capital employed. It shows how effectively assets are performing while taking into consideration 
long-term financing. 

Although EBITDA declined in 2019 compared to 2018, ROCE increased from 11.8% in 2018 to 12.1% in 2019.  This 
was driven by a net reduction in capital employed from 2018 to 2019. (Additions to capital assets were less than the 
depreciation taken in the year.)
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AIRLINE COSTS PER ENPLANED PASSENGER:

AIRLINE COST PER ENPLANEMENT

2018

$15.00

$12.00

$9.00

$6.00

$3.00

$0.00
2019

$13.76
$13.33

Airline costs per enplaned passenger play an integral role in attracting new routes and airlines. This measure looks at 
the total rates and fees charged to airlines divided by the total number of enplaned passengers. Compared to 2018, 
the airline cost per enplanement increased by 3.2% to $13.76, due in part to a 2.5% inflationary increase in airport 
rates and fees. The other factor affecting costs per enplanement was the 102,000 decline in passenger volumes. 
Edmonton Airports continues to maintain a competitive airline cost per passenger, making us well positioned to add 
routes and flights from new and existing airline partners.

SUMMARY:
2019 was a positive year for Edmonton Airports. Despite the grounding of the Boeing 737 MAX aircraft and the 
softening regional economy, we experienced only a marginal decrease in passenger volumes. Managing expenses 
was key to enabling EIA to maintain EBITDA in line with the prior year. This reinforces our status as a low-cost partner 
with our airlines, and aligns with Edmonton Airports’ strategies looking forward to 2020.

2019 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
NET OPERATING RESULTS
(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018 Change Change
Revenue  $ 231,651  $ 233,801  $ (2,150) (0.9%)
Expenses 122,298 122,403  (105) (0.1%)
EBITDA 109,353 111,398 (2,045) (1.8%) 
EBITDA margin % 47.2% 47.6% (0.4%)
Depreciation and amortization  66,259  67,574  (1,315) (1.9%)
Interest and other  40,830  42,129 (1,299) (3.1%) 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  430  68 362 532.4%
Net income  $ 1,834  $ 1,627  $ 207 12.7% 

In 2019, EIA generated net income of $1.8 million, a modest increase over 2018. A decrease in revenue, driven by 
lower passenger volumes, was mitigated by management’s continued focus on reducing discretionary expenditures 
and holding less critical expenditures in alignment with the reduction in passengers experienced in the year.  In 
addition, the completion of fewer than expected capital projects and the strategic investment of borrowings to earn 
interest income contributed to the positive net income growth in the year.
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REVENUE
(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018 Change Change
Airport improvement fee  $ 98,616  $ 100,815  $ (2,199) (2.2%)
Concessions and parking 57,079  55,960 1,119 2.0%
Airside and general terminal 59,069  59,471 (402) (0.7%)
Real estate leases 13,594  13,211 383 2.9%
Contributions 2,999  3,810  (811) (21.3%)
Other revenue 294  534 (240) (44.9%)

 $ 231,651  $ 233,801  $ (2,150) (0.9%)

Revenue decreased year-over-year to $231.7 million, which was a decrease of 0.9% compared to the prior year. 
This was driven by a marginal decrease in passenger traffic (a 1.2% reduction overall) and a reduction in aircraft 
movements during the year as airlines adjusted their flight schedules to accommodate the grounding of the Boeing 
737-MAX aircraft. 

AIRPORT IMPROVEMENT FEE (AIF)
AIF is a major source of Edmonton Airports’ revenue base, approximating 42.6% of all revenues in 2019. AIF is 
collected by the airlines on behalf of Edmonton Airports from all passengers originating from EIA (not including 
connecting and non-revenue passengers).  These funds are used for capital programs for airport infrastructure and 
related financing costs, governed by the Airport Improvement Fee Memorandum of Agreement. During 2019, 
AIF revenue decreased by $2.2 million (2.2%) from 2018. The decrease resulted from a 2.2% decline in terminal 
enplaned passenger volumes compared to the prior year primarily due to a reduction in domestic and international 
passenger traffic. 

AERONAUTICAL REVENUE
Airside and general terminal revenue (AGT) representing aircraft landing fees, police and security fees, terminal fees, 
US pre-clearance fees, user fees, bridge fees and fees for common-use terminal equipment, is primarily driven by the 
aircraft size and number of aircraft movements. AGT revenue was $59.1 million in 2019, which is a decrease of $0.4 
million (0.7%) compared to the prior year.  This was primarily due to decreased domestic and international terminal 
aircraft activity, resulting in a decrease in movements. General aviation carrier operations showed considerable 
improvement when compared to 2018 with increased passenger traffic of 16.7%, which partially offset the overall 
decline in terminal passengers. 

NON-AERONAUTICAL REVENUE 
Edmonton Airports also earns revenue from non-aeronautical commercial operations, such as parking, concessions, 
ground transportation, real estate and other revenue.

Revenues from concessions and parking totaled $57.1 million in 2019, which was an increase of $1.1 million 
(2.0%). The increase in concessions revenue was primarily due to higher revenues from food and retail services 
in the terminal. General aviation parking lots experienced an increase in revenue year over year, consistent with 
improvements in general aviation passenger volumes. Increases in ground transportation services also positively 
impacted 2019 results. 

Revenue from real estate was $13.6 million in 2019, which was $0.4 million higher than 2018, as new investments 
in the development of airport land, began generating revenue. 

CONTRIBUTIONS
In 2019, contributions revenue decreased by approximately $0.8 million compared to prior year. The change is 
primarily related to a reduction in cargo development contributions recognized during the year.
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OPERATING EXPENSES
(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018 Change Change
Services, maintenance, supplies and administration  $ 48,653   $ 50,575  $ (1,922) (3.8%)
Salaries and employee benefits 35,902  34,465 1,437 4.2%
Ground lease 19,999  19,993 6 0.0%
Utilities, insurance and property taxes 12,728  12,252 476 3.9%
Airport improvement collection costs 5,016  5,118  (102) (2.0%)

 $ 122,298   $ 122,403  $  (105) (0.1%)

Total 2019 operating expenses remained relatively flat, decreasing slightly by 0.1%, to $122.3 million as compared 
to $122.4 million in 2018. Overall static expenses were due to reductions of approximately $1.9 million in service, 
maintenance, supplies and administration expenses, as a result of management’s continued focus on reducing 
discretionary expenditures, by holding less critical expenditures in alignment with reduced passenger traffic. Salaries 
and employee benefits costs, utilities and property taxes did however, increase year-over-year.  

SERVICE, MAINTENANCE, SUPPLIES AND ADMINISTRATION
(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018 Change Change
Services  $ 21,232  $ 20,387  $ 845 4.1%
Maintenance and supplies 11,238 12,722 (1,484) (11.7%)
Administration 16,073 17,672  (1,599) (9.0%)

48,543 50,781  (2,238) (4.4%)
Bad debt expense 110 (206)  316 (153.4%)

 $ 48,653  $ 50,575  $  (1,922) (3.8%)

Services, maintenance, supplies and administration expense decreased 3.8% to $48.7 million as compared to 
$50.6 million in 2018. 

Services costs include the operational costs of operating our parking facilities and ground transportation, contracted 
maintenance and contracted information technology (IT) and police and security services. The increase compared to 
prior year was due to higher costs for police and security services and water distribution and wastewater systems. 

Maintenance and supplies include the costs to maintain Edmonton Airports’ facilities, equipment, aprons and 
runways. This includes janitorial costs, lighting replacement costs, fleet equipment and repair and consumables 
including fuel, chemicals and equipment parts. The decrease compared to the prior year is driven by the lower costs 
related to building repairs and maintenance such as the baggage handling system, elevator, escalator, and the 
moving walkways.

Administration costs include the costs of marketing and communication costs, air service development investments, 
management consulting, travel and training, credit card service fees, legal expenses, director’s fees and stationary 
supplies. The decrease was driven primarily by managements focus on holding less critical expenditures in 
alignment with reduced passenger traffic. 

SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018 Change Change
Salaries and benefits  $ 33,995  $  32,015  $ 1,980 6.2%
Defined benefit pension plan 2,815  3,268 (453) (13.9%)
Defined contribution plan 659  546 113 20.7%

37,469  35,829 1,640 4.6%
Capitalized salaries (1,567)  (1,364) (203) 14.9%

 $ 35,902   $ 34,465  $ 1,437 4.2%

Throughout 2019, salaries and employee benefits increased by 4.2% to $35.9 million as compared to $34.5 million 
in 2018. The increase compared to the prior year is related to contractually negotiated increases, the filling of vacant 
positions during the year, and complementing our existing employee base with enhanced skills – particularly in the 
digital and technology disciplines.  

Defined benefit pension plan expense (current service cost) is the change in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation resulting from employee service in the current period.  The current service cost was lower by $0.5 million 
as compared to 2018 due to retirements of some employees during the year.
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GROUND LEASE
Ground lease expense is based on a percentage, on a progressive scale, of “Airport Revenues” at Edmonton Airports, 
as defined in the Ground Lease. “Airport Revenues” for 2019 were $232.1 million (2018 - $231.9 million) resulting 
in rent payable at the end of the year of $20.0 million, which was on par with the $20.0 million paid in 2018.

Based on “Airport Revenues” (in thousands of dollars) Rate Rent Payable
On the first $5 million 0%  $ 0
On the next $5 million 1% 50
On the next $15 million 5% 750
On the next $75 million 8% 6,000
On the next $150 million 10% 13,200
On any amount over $250 million* 12% 0
   $ 20,000

* Nil as a result of year-to-date revenues below $250 million. 

UTILITIES, INSURANCE AND PROPERTY TAXES
Utilities, insurance and property tax expenses increased by 3.9% to $12.7 million as compared to $12.3 million in 
2018. This increase is primarily related to higher electricity and water costs due to higher consumption and higher 
rates.  Also contributing to the change is the increase in property taxes as a result of  higher tax assessments.  

AIF IMPROVEMENT FEE COLLECTION COSTS
AIF collection costs for 2019 decreased slightly by 2.0% to $5.0 million as compared to $5.1 million in 2018. This is 
consistent with the decrease in AIF revenue compared to prior year.

OTHER EXPENSES
(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018 Change Change
Depreciation and amortization  $ 66,259  $ 67,574  $ (1,315) (1.9%)
Interest and other 40,830 42,129 (1,299) (3.1%)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 430 68 362 532.4%

 $ 107,519  $ 109,771  $ (2,252) (2.1%)

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Depreciation and amortization decreased by 1.9% to $66.3 million as compared to $67.6 million in 2018. The 
decrease in depreciation expense is primarily due to the timing of completion of capital projects, as well as the 
timing of capital projects becoming available for use in 2019.

INTEREST AND OTHER
(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018 Change Change
Series A Bond interest  $ 13,699   $ 14,315  $ (616) (4.3%)
ACFA loan interest 34,496  29,487 5,009 17.0%
Interest portion of current service cost for post-employment benefits 62  20 42 210.0%
Other interest and financing costs 161  118 43 36.4%
Interest income and other (7,582)  (1,795) (5,787) (322.4%)

40,836  42,145 (1,309) (3.1%)
Capitalized interest (6)  (16) 10 62.5%

 $ 40,830   $ 42,129  $ (1,299) (3.1%)

Edmonton Airports’ interest costs represent interest on the outstanding balances of the revenue bond (Series A 
Bond) issued in October 2000 and the fixed rate debentures issued by the Alberta Capital Finance Authority (ACFA). 
The decrease in Series A Bond interest was due to the reduction in loan principal as a result of repayments of the 
existing balance. The increase in ACFA loan interest was due to a full year of interest payments on borrowings which 
occurred at the end of 2018. Interest income was also higher than the prior year due to strategic investment of 
borrowings received at the end of 2018.
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CAPITAL PROJECTS 
Edmonton Airports’ capital projects are identified by the Airport and are broken into three main categories as follows:

1. COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE 
Projects in this category include those that build revenue capacity for Edmonton Airports and are funded from 
operating earnings and cash flow that becomes available.  $1.9 million was invested in commercial real estate 
projects in 2019.

During the year, Edmonton Airports continued to support activities relating to the completion of the airport 
perimeter road along the Destination Commercial Development area, the completion of the development of land 
leased to various tenants and the refurbishment of existing facilities transferred to the airport by tenants. 

The most significant projects during the year in this category are the following:
• Mall Campus Landscaping ($0.5 million) – landscaping and construction of sidewalks within the Mall Campus 

area.
• Purolator Building Renovation ($0.4 million) – refurbishment of the building vacated by Purolator for lease to a 

new tenant.
• Airport Perimeter Road North East Lanes ($0.4 million) – completion of a multi-lane road in the northeast area of 

the airport property to support commercial traffic.

2. GROWTH
Projects in this category include those that expand capacity, create new services and/or improve passenger 
experience. This includes terminal leasehold improvements for new concessions, expanded apron and taxiway to 
serve airside developments, and parking lot expansions and projects related to enhancing the passenger experience. 
$15.2 million was invested in growth projects in 2019.

The most significant projects during the year in this category are the following:
• CATSA Plus ($5.4 million) – increase in size of pre-board screening (PBS) area and implementation of a new PBS 

concept that combines the latest equipment, technology and processes.
• Cogeneration Facility ($5.3 million) – construction of a power plant that combines heat and power to 

simultaneously generate electrical energy and usable heat from a single primary energy source (natural gas or 
biofuel).

• Villeneuve Access Road ($1.9 million) – construction of an internal access road for public access to existing 
businesses within the airport including access to future aviation and non-aviation related developments.

3. MAINTENANCE
Projects in this category include the maintenance of existing airport facilities and infrastructure. This includes system 
lifecycle replacements, paving programs, fleet replacement and capital restoration. $22.3 million was invested in all 
projects in 2019.

In line with the objective of improving airport infrastructure, the most significant projects in this category are the 
following:
• Fleet Replacement Program ($2.8 million) – replacement of vehicles and maintenance equipment that have 

reached or surpassed their useful lives, in order to meet operational requirements and reduce fleet maintenance 
costs.

• Taxiway Bravo Rehabilitation ($2.6 million) – rehabilitation of airfield pavement surfaces to meet the needs of 
stakeholders and maintain or improve overall safety, security and airport operations.

• Airfield Electrical ($2.3 million) – replacement of cables supplying power to the Simplified Short Approach 
Lighting Systems (SSALR) to ensure adherence to the revised Aerodromes Standards and Recommended Practices 
as mandated by Transport Canada.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Edmonton Airports is an authority without share capital and, accordingly, is funded through operating revenues, 
AIF revenues, reserve funds, its bank credit facility and financing from the Alberta Capital Finance Authority (ACFA). 
Maintaining a strong financial position is imperative to Edmonton Airports’ success as it allows the reinvestment of 
cash flows in supporting our strategic objectives. 

We completed 2019 with a cash and cash equivalents balance of $23.3 million, compared to $221.3 million at 
December 31, 2018. The decrease in our cash position was a result of $220.0 million spent on investing activities 
and $35.5 million spent on financing activities offset by positive cash flow from operations of $57.5 million. Our 
current ratio, defined as current assets over current liabilities, was 1.39:1 at December 31, 2019 compared to 3.13:1 
at December 31, 2018.

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018 Change
Cash flows from operating activities  $ 57,484  $ 79,309  $ (21,825)
Cash flows used in investing activities  (219,981)  (46,783) (173,198)
Cash flows (used in) from financing activities  (35,530)  149,109 (184,639)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (198,027)  181,635 (379,662)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  221,285  39,650 181,635
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   $ 23,258   $ 221,285  $ (198,027)

OPERATING CASH FLOWS
Edmonton Airports defines cash flows from operating activities as those that are primarily derived from our 
principal revenue-producing activities and generally result from transactions and other events that enter into the 
determination of profit or loss. Therefore, this includes cash flows from AIF revenue and cash outflows for interest 
expense. We consider the cash flows arising from operating activities as a key indicator of the extent to which 
Edmonton Airports has generated sufficient cash flows to repay loans, maintain operating capability and make new 
investments. 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, our cash flows from operating activities decreased 27.5% to $57.5 million 
compared to $79.3 million in the prior year. This year-over-year decrease was primarily the result of a negative 
change in working capital. Cash inflows from operating activities were used to invest in capital projects and repay 
long-term debt. 

INVESTING CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash flows used in investing activities totaled $220.0 million compared to 
$46.8 million in the prior year.  A $180.0 million investment in deposit notes was the main reason for the year-over-
year increase in cash outflow.  

FINANCING CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash flows used in financing activities totaled $35.5 million compared to 
$149.1 million of cash flow from financing activities generated in 2018. The $35.5 million represents long-term 
debt repayments in 2019 compared to $30.9 million in 2018.  The remainder of the difference from 2018 relates to 
$180 million of proceeds from long-term debt received in 2018.
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DEBT COVENANTS 

REVENUE BOND
Pursuant to the terms of Edmonton Airports’ revenue bond, we are required to maintain a debt service reserve 
fund equal to one-half of our annual debt service costs and an operating and maintenance contingency fund equal 
to one quarter of our annual operating and maintenance expenses. At December 31, 2019, restricted deposits of 
$35,834 (2018 - $35,073) exist as a requirement of the debt service reserve fund. The operating and maintenance 
contingency fund is satisfied by a $75.0 million revolving credit facility of which $22,132 (2018 - $23,652) has been 
set aside for the fund. 

We are required to maintain a debt service coverage ratio on a rolling twelve-month basis of 1.00:1 and a gross debt 
service coverage ratio of not less than 1.25:1. At December 31, 2019, the ratios were 1.53:1 and 5.12:1, respectively. 

ACFA FINANCING 
Pursuant to the terms of Edmonton Airports’ credit facility with ACFA, we must maintain an interest coverage ratio 
(ICR) of not less than 1.25:1 and net cash flows greater than zero at the end of any fiscal quarter on a rolling four 
quarter basis. At December 31, 2019 the ICR was 2.11:1 and net cash flows were greater than zero on a rolling four 
quarter basis. 

CAPITAL FINANCING
The following is a summary of the most recent ratings issued for Edmonton Airports from the three rating agencies 
currently rating EA. This reflects Edmonton Airports’ ability to maintain a strong business risk profile and to access 
capital when and as required to fund operating and capital expenditure programs.

Rating Agency Date 2019 Rating 2018 Rating
S & P June 2019 A+ Stable A+ Stable
Moody’s June 2019 A1 Stable  A1 Stable
DBRS July 2019 A (High) A (High)

ACCOUNTABILITY
Edmonton Airports’ public accountability requirements with respect to planning, reporting, conduct and operational 
effectiveness are documented in the Airport ground lease and associated agreements with the Government of 
Canada and under the relevant provincial legislation, including the Regional Airports Authorities Act (Alberta). These 
agreements and incorporating legislation set out specific requirements for matters such as business ethics, conflict 
of interest, audit, periodic performance reviews and disclosure. In addition to information included in the 2019 
Management Discussion and Analysis above, the following items require disclosure: 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST
In accordance with the Airport ground lease and the Regional Airport Authorities Act (Alberta), Edmonton Airports 
confirms it has an appropriate Conflict of Interest Policy and is in compliance with that policy. 

Edmonton Airports confirms its compliance, in all material respects, with the public accountability requirements 
documented in the Airport ground lease as well as with provincial legislation, including the Regional Airports 
Authorities Act (Alberta).

FORECAST
BUSINESS AND STRATEGIC PLANS 
The Executive Summary of Edmonton Airports’ 2020 Business Plan and 2020–2024 Strategic Plan are available 
upon request.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Given the outbreak of COVID-19 and related travel advisories, including the suspension of international flights to 
and from Edmonton International Airport, the airport has experienced a reduction in passenger traffic subsequent to 
year end which is expected to have a continued impact in fiscal 2020.  A sustained reduction in passenger traffic over 
a significant period of time could have a material impact on the operations and the financial position of the airport.  
In light of these circumstances, the forecast information that is normally contained in this management discussion 
and analysis has been removed.
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PUBLIC COMPETITIVE TENDERING
Edmonton Airports, in accordance with the airport ground lease with the Government of Canada, is required to report 
on all contracts more than $138,474 ($75,000 in 1992 dollars) that were entered into during the year and were 
not awarded based on a public competitive tendering process.  Such reporting shall identify the parties, amount 
and nature and circumstances of the contract, and the reasons for not awarding the contract based on a public 
competitive tendering process.  We entered into nine contracts in excess of $138,474 ($75,000 in 1992 dollars) that, 
for the reasons outlined in the corresponding table, were not awarded on the basis of a public competitive tendering 
process.

2019 SOLE SOURCE CONTRACTS OVER $138,474
(based on 2019 Edmonton CPI Index)

Supplier Project Value
(in thousands)

Code

AviaNG Inc. Professional Consulting Services $2,500 In compliance with key partnership 
requirements

Venture Elevator Inc. Repairs and maintenance of elevator, 
escalator and moving walkway

 $3,750 In compliance with only qualified 
supplier requirements

E2E Business Transformation Digital Program & Employee Change and 
Transformation (ECT)

 $200 In compliance with past contract 
award requirements

Embross North America Ltd. Primary Inspection Kiosk (PIK) Optimization  $250 In compliance with product or 
equipment standardization program 
requirements

Aerium Analytics Integrated Unmanned Aerial System (UAS) 
and Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) Wildlife 
Management Services

 $275 In compliance with only qualified 
supplier requirements

Schneider Electric Canada Inc. 5kv Switchgear Replacement Project $550 In compliance with product or 
equipment standardization program 
requirements

 Brock Solutions Inc SmartClear International to Domestic 
Connections

$175 In compliance with only qualified 
supplier requirements

Embross North America Ltd. Nexus Kiosks purchase $255 In compliance with proprietary 
purchase  /  equipment 
standardization program 
requirements

Fortis Alberta Inc. Maintenance & Operation of the South East 
Lands Electrical System

$220 In compliance with critical operating 
system requirements



FIN
AN

CIALS



48

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 
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EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at December 31, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Assets 
Current assets
Cash  $ 23,258  $ 221,285
Accounts receivable 17,878 14,797
Short term investments (note 3) 55,000 -
Prepaid expenses and other 7,099 6,444

103,235 242,526

Non-current assets
Restricted deposits (note 4) 35,834 35,073
Long term investments (note 3) 125,000 -
Lease receivable and other 4,658 4,065
Post-employment benefits (note 5) 4,129 2,277
Property, plant and equipment (note 6) 918,832 945,338
Intangible assets (note 7) 4,404 5,367

 $ 1,196,092  $ 1,234,646

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 8)  $ 32,459  $ 37,931
Current portion of deferred revenue (note 9) 834 834
Current portion of deferred operating and capital contributions (note 10) 3,148 3,308
Current portion of long-term debt (note 4) 37,854 35,530

74,295 77,603

Non-current liabilities
Tenants’ security deposits and other liabilities 2,960 2,661
Deferred revenue (note 9) 28,315 27,649
Post-employment benefits (note 5) 3,320 3,111
Deferred operating and capital contributions (note 10) 17,776 18,747
Long-term debt (note 4) 1,015,587 1,053,146

1,142,253 1,182,917

Commitments and contingencies (note 12)

Net assets 53,839 51,729

 $ 1,196,092  $ 1,234,646

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors:

Chair Chair – Audit Committee
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STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Revenues
Airport improvement fee (note 11)  $ 98,616  $ 100,815
Concessions and parking 57,079 55,960
Airside and general terminal 59,069 59,471
Real estate leases 13,594 13,211
Contributions (note 10) 2,999 3,810
Other revenue 294 534

231,651 233,801

Expenses
Service, maintenance, supplies and administration 48,653 50,575
Salaries and employee benefits (note 14) 35,902 34,465
Ground Lease (note 12(a)) 19,999 19,993
Utilities, insurance and property taxes 12,728 12,252
Airport improvement fee collection costs (note 11) 5,016 5,118

122,298 122,403

Earnings before other income and expenses 109,353 111,398

Other expenses
Depreciation and amortization 66,259 67,574
Interest and other 40,830 42,129
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 430 68

107,519 109,771

Net income  $ 1,834  $ 1,627
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EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Net assets – beginning of year  $ 51,729  $ 52,489
Post-employment benefits remeasurement and other items (note 5) 276 (2,387)
Net income 1,834 1,627

Net assets – end of year  $ 53,839  $ 51,729
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income  $ 1,834  $ 1,627
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 66,259 67,574
Amortization of borrowing costs 295 294
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 430 68

Changes in non-cash working capital (note 15) (9,967) 10,671
Post-employment benefits (1,367) (925)

Net cash flows from operating activities 57,484 79,309

Cash flows from investing activities
Increase in restricted deposits (761) (627)
Increase in investment (180,000) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (38,925) (45,821)
Purchase of intangible assets (494) (364)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 199 29

Net cash flows (used in) investing activities (219,981) (46,783)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of long-term debt (35,530) (30,891)
Proceeds from long-term debt - 180,000

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities (35,530) 149,109

Net (decrease) increase in cash (198,027) 181,635

Cash – beginning of year 221,285 39,650

Cash – end of year  $ 23,258  $ 221,285
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
Edmonton Regional Airports Authority (Edmonton Airports) was incorporated on July 26, 1990 under the provisions of the 
Regional Airports Authorities Act (Alberta) (the Act) as a non-share capital corporation. The mandate of Edmonton Airports, 
as defined in the Act, is to manage and operate the airports for which it is responsible in a safe, secure and efficient manner 
and to advance economic and community development by promoting improved airline and transportation service and an 
expanded aviation industry. In accordance with the provisions of the Act, all of Edmonton Airports’ surpluses are applied 
towards promoting its purposes and no dividends are paid out of the surpluses. Surpluses in these financial statements are 
described as net assets. 

Edmonton Airports’ earnings are generated from airport-related operations and are exempt from federal and provincial 
income tax.

EDMONTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 
On April 2, 1992, Edmonton Airports signed an agreement with the Government of Canada (the “Landlord”) to transfer 
control of the Edmonton International Airport (the Airport) to Edmonton Airports. Effective July 31, 1992, Edmonton Airports 
signed the Ground Lease Agreement (Ground Lease) with the Landlord to lease the Airport facilities for an initial period of 
60 years ending in 2052. On August 1, 1992, Edmonton Airports assumed control of the Airport. Under the option granted 
to Edmonton Airports in the Ground Lease, Edmonton Airports provided notice to the Landlord that the option was being 
exercised to extend the term for an additional 20 years, expiring July 31, 2072.  

The Airport operates on approximately 2,800 hectares of land in the County of Leduc adjacent to the City of Leduc in the 
Province of Alberta. The assets of the Airport include air-terminal, airside assets including two runways, multiple taxiways 
and aprons, loading bridges, groundside assets including parking lots, maintenance facilities and other ancillary structures 
necessary to execute its mandate. 

Edmonton Airports is committed to the continuing development of the Airport. This includes continued redevelopment of 
the terminals, increasing airside capacity, and increasing cargo and aircraft facilities. 

VILLENEUVE AIRPORT
On March 30, 2000, Edmonton Airports acquired from the Government of Canada all lands, assets, chattels and equipment 
comprising the Villeneuve Airport for a nominal amount. Villeneuve Airport operates on approximately 579 hectares of 
land in Sturgeon County and is a certified general aviation airport. Villeneuve Airport’s role is to serve the needs of small 
commercial, recreational flying and general aviation and it is a flight training facility with a flight control system owned and 
operated by NAV CANADA.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

A) BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF ASNPO
Edmonton Airports’ financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the CPA Canada 
Handbook – Accounting Part III – Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations (“ASNPO”). 

The financial statements have been prepared in Canadian dollars under the historical cost convention. 

B) USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with ASNPO requires management to make judgements and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities, at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results 
could differ from these estimates, and differences could be material. Significant estimates include the estimated useful 
lives of capital and intangible assets, the collectability of accounts receivable, measurement of accrued liabilities, and 
measurement of post-employment benefits.
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C) GROUND LEASE EXPENSE
The Ground Lease expense is based on a progressive scale of percentages of Edmonton Airports’ revenue as defined in the 
Ground Lease and is charged to operations.

D) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Property, plant and equipment do not include the cost of the facilities that are leased from the Landlord. These assets will 
revert to Transport Canada upon the expiration or termination of the Ground Lease. No amounts are amortized longer than 
the lease term. 

Assets under construction are not depreciated and are transferred to property, plant and equipment when the asset is 
available for use.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is provided at cost less estimated residual value on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as 
follows:

Buildings 2–60 years
Roadway Systems, parking facilities and lots, runway taxiway and apron surfaces 3–60 years
Vehicles and maintenance equipment 3–20 years
Furniture and equipment 5–35 years
Computer equipment 2–3 years
Land and Land Development 60 years

Edmonton Airports has previously purchased land for operational purposes and future development. The Ground Lease 
requires that at commencement of development the applicable land be transferred to the Government of Canada at which 
time Edmonton Airports will reclassify the land to leased land.

E) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible 
assets do not include the cost of the facilities that are leased from the Landlord. 

Intangible assets include purchased computer software and software licenses with finite useful lives. These assets are 
capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis in the statement of operations at the following annual rates:

Purchased software and software licenses 2–5 years
F) BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition or construction of an asset that is constructed over time are added to the cost 
of those assets, until the assets are available for use. All other borrowing costs are recognized as interest expense in the year 
in which they are incurred.

G) IMPAIRMENT
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s fair value or replacement cost is estimated. 
For the purpose of measuring fair value or replacement cost, an asset can be integrated with other assets such that it may 
be necessary to consider the value of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential for the group of integrated 
assets as a whole. A write-down is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value or 
replacement cost. 
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H) REVENUE RECOGNITION
Edmonton Airports recognizes revenues when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably 
estimated and if collection is reasonably assured as follows: 
• Airport improvement fee (AIF) revenue, which is collected from passengers by air carriers, is recognized based on 

monthly passenger numbers submitted by individual carriers. 
• Concession revenue is recognized based upon the greater of agreed percentages of reported concession sales and 

specified minimum rentals over the terms of the respective leases. 
• Airside and general terminal and parking revenues are recognized as the airport facilities are utilized. 
• Real estate revenue net of incentives is recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. For 

land, this amount is recognized once the developed land has been granted to the tenant.
• Interest income is recognized in the period in which it is earned.
• Contributions are accounted for using the deferral method as follows:

- Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be 
reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

- Contributions received to offset specific operating costs are deferred and recorded as revenue when the related costs 
are incurred.

- Contributions received and designated by third parties for specific capital purposes are deferred and recorded as 
revenue on a basis consistent with the amortization of the related capital assets.

I) POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Edmonton Airports operates a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan, a defined contribution pension plan and two 
unfunded supplemental plans.

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 
The liability recognized in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using an actuarial valuation prepared for accounting purposes. 
The present value of the post-employment benefit obligation is determined using the projected benefit method and by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that have duration to 
maturity approximating the duration of the related pension liability. 

Remeasurements and other items comprise the difference between the actual return on plan assets and the return 
calculated using the discount rate used to determine the defined benefit obligation, actuarial gains and losses, the 
effect of any valuation allowance, past service costs and gains and losses arising from settlements and curtailments. 
Remeasurements and other items are recognized directly in net assets in the statement of financial position and are 
presented as a separate line item on the statement of changes in net assets.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN 
Edmonton Airports records contributions to the defined contribution pension plan as an expense, which is included in 
salaries and employee benefits expense, as services are rendered.

J) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value when Edmonton Airports becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Subsequently, all financial instruments are measured at amortized cost.

With respect to financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost, Edmonton Airports recognizes in net income an 
impairment loss, if any, where there are indicators of impairment and it determines that a significant adverse change has 
occurred during the period in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows. When the extent of impairment of a 
previously written-down asset decreases and the decrease can be related to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed to net income in the period the reversal occurs.
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K) DEFERRED REVENUE
Deferred revenue consists primarily of land leasing, space rental and aeronautical fee revenue received in advance of land 
or facilities being utilized.  Deferred revenue is recognized over the terms of the related agreements.

3. INVESTMENTS
Edmonton Airports holds deposit notes in the amount of $180 million (2018 - $nil). $55 million will mature in the second 
half of 2020 and have been classified as short-term investments and $125 million are classified as long-term investments. 
The deposit notes are subject to drawdown on specific dates starting in 2020 and ending in 2026. Investments in the 
deposit notes are measured at cost. Interest income is recognized in the period in which it is earned. Total interest income 
earned from these investments in 2019 was $5,959 (2018 – $nil).  

4. LONG-TERM DEBT
Pursuant to a Master Trust Indenture (“MTI”) dated October 31, 2000, Edmonton Airports established a Capital Markets 
Platform (“CMP”), which enables Edmonton Airports to create, issue and secure bonds, without restriction as to the amount 
or series. All bonds issued pursuant to the MTI are secured by a mortgage or charge against Edmonton Airports’ leasehold 
interest in the Edmonton International Airport lands and a security interest in all of Edmonton Airports’ present and after-
acquired personal property. The aforementioned security ranks pari passu with all other indebtedness issued. 

Pursuant to the terms of the MTI, Edmonton Airports is required to maintain a debt service reserve fund equal to one-
half of its annual debt service costs and an operating and maintenance contingency fund equal to one quarter of its 
annual operating and maintenance expenses. At December 31, 2019, restricted deposits of $35,834 (December 31, 
2018 – $35,073) exist as a requirement of the debt service reserve fund. These deposits earned annual interest of 2.15% 
(December 31, 2018 – 1.80%). The operating and maintenance contingency fund can be satisfied by cash, letter of credit or 
undrawn availability of a revolving credit facility.

Throughout the term of the MTI when any bonds are outstanding, Edmonton Airports is required to maintain a debt service 
coverage ratio on a rolling 12 months basis of 1.00:1 and a gross debt service coverage ratio of not less than 1.25:1. All 
covenants have been met.

Edmonton Airports has issued the following series of bonds through the CMP:

SERIES A BONDS
Pursuant to the First Supplemental Indenture dated October 31, 2000, Edmonton Airports created and issued series A 
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $250,000,000 (the “Series A Bonds”). The Series A Bonds are issued as direct 
evidence of indebtedness of Edmonton Airports to the holder thereof. The Series A Bonds bear interest at a fixed rate of 
7.214% per annum and are due on November 30, 2030. Principal and interest payments are made semi-annually on May 1 
and November 1 of each year.

SERIES B BONDS
Pursuant to the Second Supplemental Indenture dated October 31, 2000 and the Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated 
December 31, 2017, Edmonton Airports created and has issued series B bonds in the aggregate principal amount of 
$220 million (the “Series B Bonds”). The Series B Bonds are security for the Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”) Restated Credit 
Agreement dated December 13, 2017 and are payable on demand in accordance with the terms thereof. The Series B 
Bonds are pledge bonds, which constitute an obligation of Edmonton Airports to the holder thereof only to the extent of the 
lesser of i) the principal amount of the Series B Bonds plus interest accrued thereon; and ii) the amounts owing pursuant 
to the RBC Restated Credit Agreement (including accrued interest). Pursuant to the Second Supplemental Indenture, 
the Series B Bonds are exempt from the debt service reserve fund and operating and maintenance contingency fund 
requirements set forth in the MTI.

The RBC Restated Credit Agreement establishes for a three-year term a $75 million revolving credit facility for general 
corporate purposes and to assist in interim financing of construction projects (the “RBC Credit Facility”). The RBC Credit 
Facility can be extended up to $200 million. As at December 31, 2019, $22,172 (December 31, 2018 – $23,652) of the 
RBC Credit Facility had been set aside for the operating and maintenance contingency fund as required under the MTI. 
Edmonton Airports has the option to draw on the RBC Credit Facility at a variable interest rate based on the bank prime rate 
or at a fixed interest rate based on the banker’s acceptance rate plus a premium of 50 basis points. 
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SERIES C BONDS
Pursuant to the Third Supplemental Indenture dated December 6, 2006, Edmonton Airports created and has issued series 
C bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $1,365,000,000 (the “Series C Bonds”). The Series C Bonds are security 
for the Alberta Capital Finance Authority (“ACFA”) Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated January 24, 2012 and 
are payable on demand in accordance with the terms thereof. The Series C Bonds are pledge bonds, which constitute an 
obligation of Edmonton Airports to the holder thereof only to the extent of the lesser of i) the principal amount of the Series 
C Bonds plus interest accrued thereon; and ii) the amounts owing pursuant to the ACFA Amended and Restated Credit 
Agreement (including accrued interest). 

The ACFA Amended and Restated Credit Agreement establishes three credit facilities (collectively, the “ACFA Credit Facilities”, 
and each an ACFA Credit Facility”).

ACFA Credit Facility 1 has a maximum principal amount of $1,000,000,000, available by way of fixed rate loans, to be used 
solely for the purposes of airport infrastructure expenditures at the Edmonton International Airport. 

ACFA Credit Facility 2 has a maximum principal amount of $300,000,000, available by way of fixed rate loans, to be used 
firstly for the purposes of redeeming or purchasing for cancellation the Series A Bonds and the Series B Bonds. The ACFA 
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement prohibits any drawdown of the final $50,000,000 of ACFA Credit Facility 2 until 
all of the Series B Bonds have been redeemed. Once the Series A Bonds and the Series B Bonds are fully redeemed, any 
residual balance in ACFA Credit Facility 2 can be used for the ACFA Credit Facility 1 purposes. 

ACFA Credit Facility 3 has a maximum principal amount of $100,000,000, available by way of fixed rate loans, to be used 
solely for the purposes of funding capital expenditure projects, the general purpose of which are to construct or improve 
infrastructure in respect to buildings, airfield, land, roads, navigational aids and other assets required for the operation 
of the Edmonton International Airport. The use of ACFA Credit Facility 3 reduces, dollar for dollar, the amount available to 
Edmonton Airports under ACFA Credit Facility 1. 

Pursuant to the ACFA Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, throughout the period when any amounts are outstanding 
thereunder, Edmonton Airports is required to maintain an interest coverage ratio of not less than 1.25:1 and net cash flows 
greater than zero as of the end of any fiscal quarter on a rolling four fiscal quarter basis. All covenants have been met.

TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT OUTSTANDING
2019 2018

Series A Bonds  $ 189,561  $ 197,738
ACFA loans 901,653 744,367
Opening balance 1,091,214 942,105
Add: loan proceeds - 180,000
Less: loan payments 35,530 30,891

Series A Bonds 180,512 189,561
ACFA loans 875,172 901,653
Closing balance 1,055,684 1,091,214

Less: Current portion Series A Bonds 9,990 9,049
Less: Current portion ACFA loans 27,864 26,481
Total current portion 37,854 35,530
Less: Unamortized transaction costs 2,243 2,538

 $ 1,015,587  $ 1,053,146



EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

59

ACFA loans, payable in semi-annual instaLlments of principal and interest:

Interest Rate
Semi-annual 

Installment Maturity Date 2019 2018
4.37%  $ 755 December 15, 2026  $ 9,021  $ 10,101
4.50% 1,145 March 15, 2027 14,446 16,033
5.00% 398 June 15, 2027 4,932 5,462
4.89% 395 September 17, 2027 5,176 5,693
4.68% 1,552 June 16, 2028 21,555 23,576
4.55% 3,068 September 17, 2028 44,895 48,851
4.67% 1,245 December 15, 2039 32,158 33,115
4.54% 920 March 15, 2040 24,390 25,099
4.56% 1,845 June 15, 2040 48,809 50,225
4.00% 1,439 October 1, 2040 40,616 41,831
4.40% 2,112 December 15, 2040 57,519 59,159
4.41% 1,511 March 15, 2041 41,692 42,837
4.16% 1,657 June 15, 2041 46,787 48,112
3.70% 1,582 September 15, 2041 47,305 48,677
3.35% 2,135 December 15, 2041 66,058 68,062
3.41% 921 March 15, 2042 28,753 29,591
3.25% 905 June 15, 2042 28,727 29,583
3.26% 1,207 *September 17, 2042 38,879 40,000
3.24% 603 *December 17, 2042 19,438 20,000
3.42% 615 *March 15, 2043 19,728 20,000
3.73% 557 March 17, 2044 17,780 18,218
3.36% 266 September 15, 2044 8,944 9,170
3.18% 260 December 15, 2044 8,916 9,147
2.72% 490 September 15, 2046 18,648 19,111

 $ 695,172  $ 721,653

*  During the year, these financial instruments were transitioned from semi-annual installments of interest only to 
semi-annual installments of principal and interest.

ACFA loans payable in semi-annual installments of interest only:

Interest Rate
Semi-annual 

Installment Maturity Date 2019 2018
3.51%  $ 439 December 17, 2048 $ 150,000  $ 150,000
3.51% 263 December 17, 2048 30,000 30,000

180,000 180,000
$ 875,172  $ 901,653
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The future annual principal payments required to retire the long-term debt are as follows:
Principal Interest Total

2020  $ 37,854  $ 46,456  $ 84,310
2021 40,030 44,554 84,584
2022 42,334 42,527 84,861
2023 44,772 40,370 85,142
2024 47,354 38,071 85,425
Thereafter 843,340 370,253 1,213,593

 $ 1,055,684  $ 582,231  $ 1,637,915

Interest and other expenses:
2019 2018

Series A Bond interest  $ 13,699  $ 14,315
ACFA loan interest 34,496 29,487
Interest portion of current service cost for post-employment benefits 62 20
Other interest and financing costs 161 118
Interest income and other (7,582) (1,795)

40,836 42,145
Capitalized interest (6) (16)

 $ 40,830  $ 42,129

5. POST – EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
The table below outlines where Edmonton Airports’ post-employment amounts and activity are included in the financial 
statements:

2019 2018
Asset included in statement of financial position:
Fair value of plan assets  $ 78,871  $ 67,170
Present value of funded obligations 74,742 64,893
Asset in the statement of financial position 4,129 2,277

Liabilities included in statement of financial position:
Supplementary executive retirement plan 3,269 3,060
Long-term benefit plan 51 51
Liability in the statement of financial position 3,320 3,111

Expenses included in net income for the year:
Defined benefit pension plan 2,763 3,042
Supplementary executive retirement plan 113 108
Long-term benefit plan 2 2

2,878 3,152

Remeasurements and other items:
Defined benefit pension plan 562 (2,514)
Supplementary executive retirement plan (288) 126
Long-term benefit plan 2 1
Remeasurement and other items recognized in net assets  $ 276  $ (2,387)
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A) DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN
Effective October 1, 2013, Edmonton Airports closed the existing DB pension plan to all but one group of employees 
subject to collective bargaining and new employees become members of the DC pension plan. The number of employees 
in the DB pension plan will diminish as time passes. 

The most recent funding valuation for the DB portion of the pension plan was completed as at December 31, 2018. 
The financial statements were prepared based on an actuarial valuation completed as at December 31, 2018 with an 
extrapolation to December 31, 2019.

The level of DB pension benefits provided is determined by a member’s length of service and their best average 
pensionable salary. Plan assets are held in trust and governed by federal regulation. Responsibility for governance of the 
pension plan lies with Edmonton Airports. 

The movement in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets of the pension plan over the years 2018 and 
2019 is as follows:

Present value 
of obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets Total

At January 1, 2018  $ 61,155  $  (65,103)  $ (3,948)
Current service cost 3,166 - 3,166 
Interest expense (income) 2,167 (2,256) (89)
Impact on net income for the year 5,333 (2,256) 3,077

Remeasurement and other items
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest - 2,950 2,950
Gain from change in financial assumptions (4,296) - (4,296)
Experience loss 3,860 - 3,860
Remeasurement and other items recognized in net assets (436) 2,950 2,514

Contributions
Employer - (3,885) (3,885)
Participants - (35) (35)
Benefit payments (1,159) 1,159 -

(1,159) (2,761) (3,920)

At January 1, 2019 64,893 (67,170) (2,277)
Current service cost 2,839 - 2,839
Interest expense (income) 2,488 (2,541) (53)
Impact on net income for the year 5,327 (2,541) 2,786

Remeasurement and other items
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest expense - (9,596) (9,596)
Gain from change in financial assumptions 9,537 - 9,537
Experience gain (503) - (503)
Remeasurement and other items recognized in net assets 9,034 (9,596) (562)

Contributions
Employer - (4,053) (4,053)
Participants - (23) (23)
Benefit payments (4,512) 4,512 -

(4,512) 436 (4,076)

At December 31, 2019  $ 74,742  $ (78,871)  $ (4,129)
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B) SUPPLEMENTARY EXECUTIVE RETIREMENT PLAN
Edmonton Airports has a DB Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) with one member, effective February 1, 
2005. The benefits provided under the SERP constitute a non-funded liability of Edmonton Airports. All payments made to 
the member of the SERP will be made from general revenues of Edmonton Airports. The financial statements were prepared 
using an independent actuarial valuation completed at December 31, 2019.

The movement in the defined benefit obligation of the SERP over the years 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

2019 2018
Balance – Beginning of year  $ 3,060  $ 3,270
Interest expense recognized in net loss for the year 113 108
Impact on net income for the year 113 108
Remeasurement and other items recognized in net assets 288 (126)
Benefit payments (192) (192)
Balance – End of year  $ 3,269  $ 3,060

C) LONG-TERM BENEFIT PLAN
Edmonton Airports has a DB long-term benefit plan for eligible employees under the general bargaining unit collective 
agreement, excluding employees, management, and firefighters under a separate collective bargaining agreement. The 
benefits provided under the long-term benefit plan constitute a non-funded liability of Edmonton Airports. The financial 
statements were prepared using an independent actuarial valuation completed at December 31, 2019.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the long-term benefit plan has a $2 remeasurement and other items gain (2018 
– $1). Interest expense of $2 (2018 - $2) was reported in the current year. Benefit payments of $nil (2018 - nil) were made 
during the current year by the plan. 

D) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN
Edmonton Airports maintains a pension plan with defined contribution provisions providing pension benefits to employees 
who joined the plan after November 1, 2010, and whose employment conditions are not subject to collective bargaining. 
Employees whose employment conditions are subject to collective bargaining began joining the plan after October 1, 
2013. Edmonton Airports’ contribution to the defined contribution portion of the plan is a maximum of 5.5% of the 
employee’s regular salary and wages. 

The net expense for the defined contribution portion of the pension plan in 2019 was $627 (2018-$520). 

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2019 2018

Cost
Accummulated 

Depreciation
Net Book 

Value
Net Book 

Value
Buildings  $ 961,593  $ 449,376  $ 512,217  $ 534,953
Roadway systems 117,931 43,675 74,256 70,280
Parking facilities and lots 87,653 41,643 46,010 48,447
Runway facilities and lots 287,737 141,527 146,210 151,107
Land development 112,496 17,827 94,669 93,230
Vehicles and maintenance equipment 34,083 22,408 11,675 10,120
Furniture and equipment 13,189 10,555 2,634 2,578
Computer hardware 30,530 22,085 8,445 8,905
Land 4,080 358 3,722 3,792
Construction in progress 18,994 - 18,994 21,926

 $ 1,668,286  $ 749,454  $ 918,832  $ 945,338
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2019 2018

Cost
Accummulated 

Amortization
Net Book 

Value
Net Book 

Value
Computer software  $ 12,558  $ 8,225  $ 4,333  $ 5,250
Construction in progress 71 - 71 117

 $ 12,629  $ 8,225  $ 4,404  $ 5,367

8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are government remittances payable, which include amounts payable 
of $692 (December 31, 2018 – $2,133). This balance is comprised of amounts payable for sales and payroll related taxes, as 
well as Ground Lease payments to Transport Canada.

9. DEFERRED REVENUE
2019 2018

Deferred revenue  $ 28,483  $ 16,260
Add: Tennant Advances 1,605 13,047
Less: Amortized in the current year  (939) (824)

29,149 28,483
Less: Current portion (834) (834)

 $ 28,315  $ 27,649

10. DEFERRED OPERATING AND CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
2019 2018

Balance – Beginning of year  $ 22,055  $ 23,961
Operating contributions received during the year 831 1,552
Capital contributions received during the year 1,037 352

23,923 25,865
Less: amortization 2,999 3,810
Balance – end of year 20,924 22,055
Less: current portion 3,148 3,308

 $ 17,776  $ 18,747

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED AS REVENUE IN THE YEAR:
Amortization of operating contributions  $ 990  $ 1,683
Amortization of capital contributions 2,009 2,127

 $ 2,999  $ 3,810
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11. AIRPORT IMPROVEMENT FEE (AIF)
Edmonton Airports derives revenue from an AIF, which is collected by air carriers pursuant to a Memorandum of Agreement 
(MOA) among various airports in Canada, the Air Transport Association of Canada (ATAC) and air carriers serving airports 
that are signatories to the agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, signatory airlines receive a 5% collection fee. AIF revenue 
is used to fund the costs of new airport infrastructure, major improvements to existing facilities at the Airport, as well as 
related financing costs, debt repayment and the collection fee retained by the signatory airlines.

Cumulative from program inception 2019 2018
AIF revenue  $ 1,143,176  $ 1,044,560
AIF collection costs, retained by airlines (65,375) (60,444)

1,077,801 984,116
Less: cumulative expenditures (1,892,909) (1,807,021)

 $ (815,108)  $ (822,905)

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
A) GROUND LEASE
Under the terms of the Ground Lease, rent is based upon a percentage of estimated gross revenues, including AIF revenues, 
at the Edmonton International Airport. The future lease payments due under the Ground Lease are based upon projected 
Gross Revenue in each year and are estimated for the next five years as follows: 2020 - $20,546; 2021 - $21,405; 2022 - 
$22,959; 2023 - $24,325; and 2024 - $26,323.

B) COMMITMENTS
i) Capital commitments

At December 31, 2019, Edmonton Airports has outstanding capital commitments in connection with the construction of 
certain capital projects in the amount of $11,287 (December 31, 2018 – $9,237).

ii) Operating commitments 

Edmonton Airports has operating contracts for the provision of parking and information technology management, building 
maintenance and security, air service, marketing and janitorial services. These contracts have annual commitments as 
follows: 2020 - $21,096; 2021 - $14,487; 2022 - $6,024; 2023 - $5,614; and 2024 - $2,224. Certain operating contracts 
where the amounts cannot be reasonably estimated have been excluded from the above annual commitments.

C) LEGAL CLAIMS
In the normal course of operations, Edmonton Airports becomes involved in various claims and legal proceedings. While 
the final outcome with respect to these claims and legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, management 
believes that the resolution of the proceedings with not have a material adverse effect on Edmonton Airports financial 
position or the results of its operations.

As at December 31, 2019, there were no material claims pending against Edmonton Airports.
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13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Edmonton Airports primarily has exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risk on its financial instruments. 

A) CREDIT RISK
The exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of trade receivables of $15,266 (December 31, 2018 - $11,938) on the 
balance sheet. At the end of the year Edmonton Airports has approximately 46% (December 31, 2018 – 42%) of its trade 
accounts receivable balance from two airlines. Additionally, there is exposure to credit risk from the carrying value of other 
receivables of $2,245 (December 31, 2018 – $2,858).

Edmonton Airports mitigates credit risk by endeavouring to obtain security deposits, letters of credit, customer credit 
evaluations and other credit enhancement methods.

Accounts receivable are non-interest bearing and are generally due in 30 to 90 days. At December 31, 2019, provision for 
impairment of accounts receivable was $238 (December 31, 2018 – $275). At December 31, 2019, the aging analysis of 
trade receivables that are past due, but not impaired, is as follows:

2019 2018
30 to 90 days  $ 3,222  $ 2,598
Greater than 90 days 763 796

 $ 3,985  $ 3,394

No other impairments have been identified within trade or other receivables.

B) LIQUIDITY RISK
Edmonton Airport manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash or available credit facilities. Cash flow projections 
are continually updated and reviewed by management to ensure a sufficient continuity of funding.

C) INTEREST RATE RISK
Edmonton Airports is exposed to interest rate risk on its cash, restricted deposits, investments and long-term debt. 
Edmonton Airports enters into fixed rate loans under the ACFA credit facility and other debt securities with the intention of 
holding to maturity. Since all debt securities have fixed interest rates for their term, any change in market interest rate will 
not impact Edmonton Airports’ interest payments.
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES
DIRECTORS COMPENSATION
(All figures in this note are expressed in whole dollars)

Board Chair 70,000 Per annum
Audit Committee Chair 17,250 Per annum
Governance & Human Resource Committee Chair 16,375 Per annum
Directors (total fees excluding Board chair and Committee chairs) 130,625 Per annum
Board and Board Committee meeting fees 1,200 Per meeting

Total compensation paid and expenses reimbursed to each Director in 2019:

Compensation Expenses Total
Bashir, Naseem (Chair)  $ 86,800  $ 714  $ 87,514
Burrows, Christopher 22,700 - 22,700
Cameron, Mary 21,900 - 21,900
Hales, Murray 21,700 - 21,700
Hertz , Joan (Chair, Governance & Human Resource Committee) 29,600 - 29,600
Hofstra, Tim 22,900 331 23,231
Horner, Doug 19,500 139 19,639
Jones, Darrell 20,700 - 20,700
Klein, Dale (Chair, Audit Committee) 27,075 - 27,075
McClelland, Steven 23,775 715 24,490
McNary, Carman 22,700 - 22,700
Mowat, Dave 10,945 - 10,945
Petryk, Robert 8,000 - 8,000
Ramotar, Jay 22,700 129 22,829
Sanatani, Suromitra 20,500 - 20,500

SENIOR OFFICERS’ COMPENSATION
The base compensation range for the senior officers at Edmonton Airports is $200,400 to $427,500 (2018-$183,820 to 
$415,000).

15. SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION
2019 2018

Accounts receivable  $ (3,081)  $ 2,501
Prepaid expenses and other (655) (1,081)
Lease receivable and other (593) (3,758)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (5,472) 2,098
Deferred revenue (1,131) 12,223
Operating and capital contributions 666 (1,906)
Tenants’ security deposit 299 594
Changes in non-cash working capital  $ (9,967)  $ 10,671

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Given the outbreak of COVID-19 and related travel advisories, including the suspension of international flights to and from 
Edmonton International Airport, the airport has experienced a reduction in passenger traffic subsequent to year-end which 
is expected to have a continued impact in fiscal 2020. A sustained reduction in passenger traffic over a significant period of 
time could have a material impact on the operations and the financial position of the airport.
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